Assessing the Potential of EU Trade Agreements as an Instrument for Achieving Strategic Autonomy: An Analysis of the European Commission's Goals and Objectives.

THOMAS KLEIN WOLTERINK

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, program European Studies, University of Twente

26.06.2023

Thomas Klein Wolterink: © June 26, 2023

MSc European Studies Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences

Location: University of Twente P.O. Box 217 7500 AE Enschede The Netherlands

# Abstract

This thesis is written with the objective to answer the question: *To what extent can EU trade agreements be an instrument to attain the strategic autonomy goals set out by the European Commission?* The concept of strategic autonomy is ambiguous and multi-faceted which results in different definitions. By first exploring the different definitions of the concept of strategic autonomy, it was discovered that the concept best be defined as *"the capacity of the EU to act autonomously – that is, without being dependent on other countries – in strategically important policy areas."* The second part of the analysis aimed to discover how European institutions have implemented their strategic autonomy objectives into trade agreements signed between 2010-2020. The research has shown that there is no clear strategy for incorporating such strategies into trade agreements, mostly due to the selected timeframe. The research did show that with the changing global order in the late 2010s and early 2020s, the Von der Leyen Commission made it a priority to attain the strategic autonomy goals and they have represented their ambitions in European (trade) policy.

# **Table of contents**

# ABSTRACT

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research questions and thesis structure	2
1.2 Societal and Scientific Relevance	3
1.3 THESIS OUTLINE	4
2. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	5
2.1 TRADE POLICY	5
2.2. TRADE AGREEMENTS	7
2.1.1. ASSOCIATION AGREEMENTS	7
2.1.2. Free trade agreements	8
2.1.3. ECONOMIC PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENTS	8
2.3 INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS THEORIES	9
2.3.1. NORMATIVE POWER EUROPE	10
2.3.2. MARKET POWER EUROPE	11
2.3.3. LIBERAL INTERGOVERNMENTALISM	12
2.3.4. Collective Power Europe	13
2.4 Strategic Autonomy	14
2.4.1 Institutional definition	14
2.4.2 ACADEMIC DEFINITION	17
2.4.3 PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION	20
3. METHODOLOGY	21
3.1 Research design	21
3.2 METHOD OF DATA COLLECTION	22
3.3 VALIDITY, RELIABILITY AND LIMITATIONS	25
4. STRATEGIC AUTONOMY IN TRADE AGREEMENTS BETWEEN 2010 AND 2020	27

4.1. Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems	27
4.1.1. Health systems	27
4.1.2. FOOD SYSTEMS	29
4.2 SECURING DECARBONIZED AND AFFORDABLE ENERGY	30
4.3. STRENGTHENING CAPACITY IN DATA MANAGEMENT, ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE AND CUTTING-EDGE	C
TECHNOLOGY	33
4.3.1. DATA MANAGEMENT	34
4.3.2. CUTTING-EDGE TECHNOLOGIES	34
4.3.3. SEMICONDUCTORS	35
4.4. SECURING AND DIVERSIFYING SUPPLY OF CRITICAL RAW MATERIALS	36
4.5. BUILDING A RESILIENT AND FUTURE-PROOF ECONOMICS AND FINANCIAL SYSTEM	38
4.6. PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION	40
5. STRATEGIC AUTONOMY IN (TRADE) POLICY SINCE 2020	42
5.1. TRADE AGREEMENTS	42
5.1.1. Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems	42
5.1.2. SECURING DECARBONIZED AND AFFORDABLE ENERGY	43
5.1.3. STRENGTHENING CAPACITY IN DATA MANAGEMENT, ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE AND CUTTING-EDGE	
TECHNOLOGY	44
5.1.4. SECURING AND DIVERSIFYING SUPPLY OF CRITICAL RAW MATERIALS	46
5.1.5. BUILDING A RESILIENT AND FUTURE-PROOF ECONOMICS AND FINANCIAL SYSTEM	46
5.2. KEY INITIATIVES, POLICIES AND MEASURES	47
5.2.1 SECURING DECARBONIZED AND AFFORDABLE ENERGY	47
5.2.2 Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems	49
5.2.3. STRENGTHENING CAPACITY IN DATA MANAGEMENT, ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE AND CUTTING-EDGE	
TECHNOLOGY	51
5.2.4. SECURING AND DIVERSIFYING SUPPLY OF CRITICAL RAW MATERIALS	53
5.2.5. BUILDING A RESILIENT AND FUTURE-PROOF ECONOMICS AND FINANCIAL SYSTEM	54
5.3. PRELIMINARY CONCLUSION	54
6. CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION	55
7. <u>REFERENCES</u>	59
APPENDIX 1 – OVERVIEW OF TRADE AGREEMENTS RATIFIED BETWEEN 2010-2020	79
APPENDIX 2 – LIST OF CRITICAL RAW MATERIALS AS DEFINED BY THE EC	80
APPENDIX 3 – OVERVIEW OF TRADE AGREEMENTS FINISHED SINCE 2020	80

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1: Analysis of trade agreements

- Figure 2: Scheme to analyze notions of strategic autonomy per country.
- Figure 3: Overview of the Synchronous grid of Continental Europe
- Figure 4: Global Semiconductor manufacturing capacity in 2020
- Figure 5: Countries accounting for the largest share of global CRM supply

# List of abbreviations

AA	Association Agreement	HS	Harmonized System	
AI	Artificial Intelligence	IEA	International Energy Agency	
API	Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients	ІоТ	Internet of Things	
ССР	Common Commercial Policy	JSTOR	Journal Storage	
CJEU	Court of Justice of the European Union	LED	Light Emitting Diode	
CPE	Collective Power Europe	LI	Liberal Intergovernmentalism	
CRM	Critical Raw Materials	LNG	Liquified Natural Gas	
CSDP	Common Security and Defense Policy	MPE	Market Power Europe	
EC	European Commission	NATO	North Atlantic Treaty	
			Organization	
ECIC	European Chips Infrastructure	NPE	Normative Power Europe	
	Consortium			
EDTIB	EU's Defence Technological and	NZIA	Net Zero Industry Act	
	Industrial Base			
EEAS	European External Action Service	OSA	Open, Sustainable and Assertive	
			Trade Policy	
EP	European Parliament	REE	Rare Earth Minerals	
EPA	Economic Partnership Agreement	RG	Regional Group	
ESA	Eastern- and Southern Africa	SA	Strategic Autonomy	
EU	European Union	SADC	South African Development	
			Community	
EUCO	European Council	TEU	Treaty on	
			European	
			Union	
EUGS	European Union Global Strategy	TFEU	Treaty on the Functioning of the	
			European Union	
FTA	Free Trade Agreement	UK	United Kingdom	
GATT	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade	US	United States	
GPS	Global Positioning System	WTO	World Trade Organization	
		•		

# **1. Introduction**

In recent years, the concept of (European) Strategic Autonomy has gained significant attention as the European Union (EU) seeks to position itself as a leading player in a changing global order (Youngs & Ülgen, 2022). At its core, strategic autonomy (SA) refers to the ability of the EU to act independently and assertively in its policies without relying on third countries such as the United States, although this is not undisputed. In recent years, the definition has shifted more towards an overarching concept in other strategic areas, such as trade, finance and supply chain resilience. The concept has become increasingly important due to a variety of events, for example, the election of Donald Trump as United States (US) president in 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) voting to leave the EU in 2016 and the ongoing invasion of Russia in Ukraine (Besch, 2016; Simón, 2022).

The transatlantic partnership, which has traditionally been a cornerstone of Europe's foreign and security policy, has come under stress in the past years (Berriault, 2022). The election of US President Trump in 2016, who advocated for a more isolationist foreign policy and expressed scepticism towards the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), led many European leaders to question the reliability of the United States as a strategic partner (van Ham, 2018; Barnes & Cooper, 2021). In addition, the rise of China as a global superpower has created new challenges for Europe. The supply chain disruptions caused by China's zero-covid policy have severely impacted the EU (Castro Ribeiro, 2023). Secondly, China's assertiveness in the Asia-Pacific region and its increasing economic influence in Europe has raised concerns about its impact on European security and economic interests (Hirsch, 2020). However, not only security issues contribute to the call for a stronger Europe. An increasingly multipolar world urges the EU to stand up and expose its power.

As a result of these developments, several European leaders with French President Macron as a frontrunner, have called for a greater and stronger EU that is capable of making its own decisions (Macron, 2017). This has involved the re-evaluation of the EU's foreign and security policy, including its approach to defence and its relationship with NATO. European leaders have also called for greater cooperation and integration in areas such as defence procurement and military capabilities, to enhance the EU's ability to act independently and respond to security challenges. Since 2020, however, the discussion

has expanded into other strategic areas such as technology, energy (infrastructure) and healthcare.

Despite these efforts, however, achieving SA is a complex and difficult task. Not only because the EU is made up of 27 member states with diverse interests and perspectives, but also because there is no conformity in the definition of the concept (Franke & Varna, 2019; Brudzinska et al., 2021). Furthermore, there are significant disagreements among EU member states about issues such as defence spending and the role of NATO. In addition, there are practical challenges to building a more integrated and resilient Europe. To realize its proposed goals, the EU needs to seek instruments to enable more autonomous decision-making with the aim to become more resilient.

In recent years, global trade policy has become more politized. This has led to the concept of geoeconomics, referring to the use of economic tools to advance (geo)political objectives (Schneider-Petsinger, 2020). The concept of geoeconomics is often intertwined with the concept of SA in an economic sense. Economic power is more often used strategically, as was shown by President Trump who threatened to leave the World Trade Organization (WTO) (Swanson, 2019). Such events forced the EU to think about how they see the future of global trade and the single market. This has led to a new way of thinking in which the EU utilizes its vast economic power to accomplish its own goals (Schmitz & Seidl, 2022a). The trend of politicizing trade has its effects on SA as well (Meunier & Nicolaïdis, 2019; Babic et al., 2022; Moraes & Wigell, 2022; Weinhardt et al., 2022).

This research will examine whether trade agreements can be used as an instrument to attain the goal of SA as introduced and defined by the European Commission. It aims to build upon existing research on SA by exploring the possible relationship between trade policy and SA. Trade policy is primarily developed at the EU Commission level, involving multiple actors and different interests, making it possibly an ideal instrument to spread European norms and values. Existing research primarily examined the effects of trade deals or the meaning of SA in different sectors separately, but not the connection between the policy and the policy objective: SA.

### 1.1 Research questions and thesis structure

This thesis will study and answer the following research question:

**Main research question:** To what extent can EU trade agreements be an instrument to attain the strategic autonomy goals set out by the European Commission?

To answer the main question, the research was divided into four sub-questions.

SQ1: What is the academic definition of strategic autonomy?

This sub-question will be discussed in Chapter 2, where a literature review is carried out to identify the institutional definition of SA. The institutional definition of the concept is important because it will help to position the course the European institutions aim to follow to become more strategically autonomous. This sub-question will be answered in the conclusion of Chapter 2.

SQ2: How do the different relevant European institutions define strategic autonomy?

Similar to sub-question one, the answer to this sub-question is to be found with the help of a literature review. The academic definition helps to further place the concept into context, and define how it has evolved. The second sub-question will be answered in the conclusion of Chapter 2.

**SQ3:** How have the European institutions presented European interests in trade agreements that were concluded between 2010 and 2020?

The third sub-question is the next part of the analysis carried out in this research. The analysis consists of an overview of all trade agreements signed between 2010 and 2020. They will be analysed to see whether there are articles that refer to strategic autonomy, and how the EU institutions have presented their interests in the trade agreements. The answer to this sub-question is found in the conclusion of Chapter 4.

**SQ4:** How can the strategic autonomy approach of the European Commission be identified in recent trade policy development?

The fourth and final sub-question aims to see whether trade agreements signed after 2020 and other relevant trade policy development have any mentioning of strategic autonomy, or its goals, as defined by the EC. It will be carried out by the same analysis as for sub-question 3 and the answer can be found in the conclusion of chapter 5.

# 1.2 Societal and Scientific Relevance

Research on SA concerning trade policy is relevant to society as it can have significant implications for Europe's economic competitiveness and possibly helps the economy to recover from crises and remain competitive (Publications Office of the European Union, 2020). With the increase of protectionism and unilateralism, as well as growing geopolitical tensions, the EU is increasingly seeking to find its role as a global (trade) power (Meunier & Nicolaïdis, 2006).

This research aims to answer a range of questions, such as which instruments the EU can utilize to enhance SA, whether trade agreements have resulted in more SA and, how trade policy and regulatory frameworks have changed in recent years. Furthermore, the research also related to current debates in the EU on how it should further develop its military capabilities, the Single Market and its foreign policy. Therefore, it also relates to European integration theories.

# **1.3 Thesis Outline**

The following chapter will outline the theoretical framework. This includes the specification of the key concepts as well as an extensive literature review. The subsequent chapter focuses on the research design. The central research question provides for descriptive research, therefore a document analysis will be conducted. The final chapters conclude the study by answering the research question.

# 2. Theoretical framework

The following chapter will provide the theoretical framework for this research. It includes the definition of the relevant concepts, explaining trade policy, and the literature to define the concept of SA. Because the latter is of great importance for the research, it will be elaborated on more broadly with the help of a literature review.

## 2.1 Trade policy

Trade policy refers to a set of government policies and regulations that are designed to shape the conditions of international trade. This includes policy regarding, tariffs, quotas, and subsidies among others, but also trade agreements can be defined as trade policy. In the EU, the policy that covers the area of trade is the common commercial policy (CCP). The CCP shows the evolution of the international trade regime and the process of economic integration within the EU, as well as the strong relationship between the internal and external aspects of economic integration (Larik, 2020, p. 211). With the establishment of the Treaty of Rome, the founding member states aimed to facilitate trade and investment. Whereas the member states were signatories to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), a customs union was required to remove tariffs between the founding countries (Gstöhl, 2013). The CCP was officially implemented in 1968, and although overlapping with GATT, it must be seen as an EU initiative that aimed to develop trade mechanisms to ensure maintaining its leading trade position (Gstöhl, 2013). Whereas GATT was relatively successful, it had no coherent institutional structure. To institutionalize the treaties, GATT was incorporated into the World Trade Organization (WTO), which was said to be more decisive and better able to serve its purpose (WTO, 2023).

The core of the CCP can be found in art. 206 and 207 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU), which states that:

By establishing a customs union in accordance with Articles 28 to 32, the Union shall contribute, in the common interest, to the harmonious development of world trade, the progressive abolition of restrictions on international trade and on foreign direct investment, and the lowering of customs and other barriers (Treaty for the functioning of the European Union, 1957).

Article 207 TFEU not only focusses on goods but includes aspects such as intellectual property and foreign investment as well. Art. 207 TFEU states that:

### Article 207

The common commercial policy shall be based on uniform principles, particularly with regard to changes in tariff rates, the conclusion of tariff and trade agreements relating to trade in goods and services, and the commercial aspects of intellectual property, foreign direct investment, the achievement of uniformity in measures of liberalisation, export policy and measures to protect trade such as those to be taken in the event of dumping or subsidies. The common commercial policy shall be conducted in the context of the principles and objectives of the Union's external action (Treaty for the functioning of the European Union, 1957).

A significant part of the EU foreign policy is conducted through the CCP. The CCP is used as an instrument to promote stability, provide humanitarian aid and stimulate trade, thus according to Adriaensen (2020) the CCP can be considered an instrument of foreign policy. Meunier & Nicolaidis (2017, p. 211) argue that "it is crucial to distinguish between the inherent power derived from trade and the use of trade as the backbone of normative power," showing that the CCP can be a powerful instrument. It consists of five instruments that are used to shape international trade: a common customs tariff, trade barriers and market access, trade defence instruments, trade agreements and dispute settlement (Larik, 2020, pp 216-228). For this research, it is important to have a clear overview of different types of trade agreements. Therefore, they will be discussed in more detail in section 2.2.

Regarding the CCP it is important to note that the decision-making process is clearly defined in art. 207(3) TFEU, where it states that "The Commission shall make recommendations to the Council, which shall authorize it to open the necessary negotiations. The Council and the Commission shall be responsible for ensuring that the agreements negotiated are compatible with internal Union policies and rules." This means that formally the EU speaks with one voice and through one agent: the EC (Meunier & Nicolaïdis, 2017, p. 212; Larik, 2020, p. 230).

### 2.2. Trade agreements

Trade agreements are formally negotiated agreements between two or more countries that cover a wide range of issues related to trade, such as tariffs, quotas, regulations, and intellectual property rights, with the ultimate goal to liberalize trade (Young & Peterson, 2006, p. 798; Aghion et al., 2007, p. 10; Rodrik, 2018, p. 74; European Council, 2021). However, not all trade agreements serve the same purposes and to the same extent. Therefore, a classification of EU trade agreements becomes particularly important for this research. (Storey, 2006, p. 335; Harrison et al, 2019, p. 645; Van Elsuwege & Chamon, 2019, p. 24). The legal basis for all agreements is art. 217 TFEU, which states that:

# Article 217

The Union may conclude with one or more third countries or international organisations agreements establishing an association involving reciprocal rights and obligations, common action and special procedure.

With the implementation of the Lisbon Treaty in 2009, a new legal basis was introduced with art. 8 TEU, also called the European Neighbourhood Policy (EEAS, 2023). Although it does not formally belong to the EU's external action treaty provisions, it is considered part of the common provisions (Elsuwege & Chamon, 2019, p. 12). Art. 8 TEU states that:

# Article 8

1. The Union shall develop a special relationship with neighbouring countries, aiming to establish an area of prosperity and good neighbourliness, founded on the values of the Union and characterised by close and peaceful relations based on cooperation.

2. For the purposes of paragraph 1, the Union may conclude specific agreements with the countries concerned. These agreements may contain reciprocal rights and obligations as well as the possibility of undertaking activities jointly. Their implementation shall be the subject of periodic consultation.

### 2.1.1. Association Agreements

Association Agreements (AAs) are bilateral or multilateral agreements that are signed between the EU and third countries creating a framework for increased cooperation between the states and the modernization of the third country its political, economic and social systems. Besides art. 217 TFEU, Art 218 TFEU mentions AAs as a special case, allowing them to conclude after unanimous voting by the EUCO (Elsuwege & Chamon, 2019, p. 10). All aspects concerning

the Common Foreign and Security Policy (CSDP) are captured in art. 37 TEU. Often, AAs are also used as a basis for the implementation of the EU accession process, as was the case for Turkey. The Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) described the purpose of the AA as:

to promote the development of trade and economic relations between the contracting parties [...] so as to improve the living conditions of Turkish people and facilitate the accession of the Republic of Turkey to the Community at a later date (Van Elsuwege & Chamon, 2019, p. 25).

In general, AAs cover aspects in more different areas than trade only, which can include political, legal or social reforms. It can therefore be seen as some sort of preliminary trade agreement. As AAs are negotiated by the EU to secure commitments from a country to implement political, economic, trade, or human rights reforms. In return, the EU may provide the country with access to its markets (such as for industrial goods or agricultural products) without tariffs, as well as financial or technical support. It is worth noting that the most recent Association Agreements also involve the inclusion of a Free Trade Agreement (FTA) between the EU and the third country (Spiliopoulos, 2014).

#### 2.1.2. Free trade agreements

FTAs are agreements that aim to open markets in developed countries by granting them market access. In international law, FTAs are divided into two types, bilateral agreements and multilateral agreements. FTAs are designed to decrease tariffs and duties and thus eliminate trade barriers and stimulate international trade (European Commission, n.d.). FTAs are often complex agreements that besides regulating tariff treatment related to goods, also contain chapters on intellectual property, technical standards and other trade-related issues (Erixon et al., 2022; European Commission, 2022). General rules concerning FTAs are written down in the GATT, which is part of the regulations of the WTO (WTO, 1986).

#### 2.1.3. Economic Partnership Agreements

Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) are agreements which aim to eliminate trade barriers regarding the free movement of goods and services between two or more countries. The EU has negotiated EPAs with several African and Caribbean countries such as the Southern Africa Development Community (SADC) and Eastern and Southern Africa (European Commission, 2023b). The agreements aim to create a free trade area between the EU and third countries. EPAs in their current form the EU negotiates them can be traced back to the signing of the

Cotonou Agreement in 2000 (Von Moltke, 2004). Before the Cotonou agreement, there was heavy criticism of the way the EU negotiated non-reciprocal and discriminating agreements that were not in line with World Trade Organization (WTO) standards (Koné, 2010). With the implementation of the 'new style EPAs,' WTO guidelines are the basis of the agreements, meaning their nature is reciprocal and non-discriminatory. Furthermore, the agreements go beyond conventional free trade agreements (FTAs) by taking into account socio-economic circumstances and creating joint institutions that cooperatively address issues, together with contributing to good economic governance (European Commission, 2005).

Trade Agreements could potentially be an important tool for pursuing SA. Potentially, they can be used as a tool to enhance the EU's economic competitiveness, promote its interests, and strengthen its global influence. Therefore, theoretically, the EU can utilize trade agreements in several ways. One of the theories that argues that the EU can promote its interests and values to potentially shape global norms and standards, is normative power Europe (Manners, 2002). This concept will be discussed in more detail in section 2.3.1. Secondly, the EU can use trade agreements to strengthen its influence in regions with strategic interests by building closer economic ties (Schmitz & Seidl, 2022b). Finally, the EU can increase its strategic flexibility and decrease its reliance on a single partner. This helps the EU to more effectively respond to opportunities and pursue its strategic interests independently (Molthof & Köbben, 2022).

An effective type of agreement to attain more SA would be AAs. Because of its complexity and extensivity, the EU would best be able to further develop its industrial and commercial policy, albeit solely with neighbouring countries, as AAs pursue. The countries that the EU has signed association agreements with are all neighbouring countries, without significant strategic resources. However, an AA could help to strengthen and broaden the single market. To utilize trade agreements as an instrument to further attain SA, the EU should continuously work on modernizing its AAs with the main goal to recentre its trade policy around fewer priorities. This is also argued by Bjerkem (2020), who says that "Priorities include strengthening and modernising the EU's trade defence instruments, leveraging its Single Market to establish a level playing field, and improving the enforcement of its FTAs."

### 2.3 international relations theories

With SA as the goal of the EC, understanding various international relations theories that are relevant to trade policy can help to understand what the possible approaches of the EC are, and how these can contribute to SA.

#### 2.3.1. Normative Power Europe

Normative Power Europe (NPE) is a theory that describes the EUs ability to influence the behaviour of other states by promoting its norms and values. The concept was first defined by Manners (2002), arguing that "the concept of normative power is an attempt to suggest that not only is the EU constructed on a normative basis, but importantly that this predisposes it to act in a normative way in world politics" (p. 252). NPE describes how the EU's influence is not solely based on economic or military power, but rather on its ability to shape global norms and values without force or coercion. The concept of normative power is strongly noticeable in EU legislation. For example, Art. 21(1) Treaty on European Union (TEU) mentions that:

The Union's action on the international scene shall be guided by the principles which have inspired its own creation, development and enlargement, and which it seeks to advance in the wider world: democracy, the rule of law, the universality and indivisibility of human rights and fundamental freedoms, respect for human dignity, the principles of equality and solidarity, and respect for the principles of the United Nations Charter and international law.

Manners (2002) has defined five core norms within the EU's Acquis Communautaire, which consists of all the laws and policies of the EU. These five norms are peace, liberty, democracy, rule of law and human rights (p. 242). These norms are visible in art. 21(1) TEU as mentioned above. However, Manners (2002) also argues that "accepting the normative basis of the EU does not make it a normative power, so we need to ask how EU norms are diffused"(p. 244). Therefore, he identified six factors that can shape norm diffusion. The first is contagion, referring to the unintentional diffusion of ideas from the EU to other (political) actors. The second factor is informational diffusion. This is the result of strategic communications such as declaratory communications. Procedural diffusion is the next factor that involves institutionalization of the relationship between the EU and a third party, for example by enlargement. Fourth is transference, which takes place when goods or other means are exchanged through financial or substantive means. Next is the diffusion that is caused by the physical representation of the EU in a third country, for example, Member State embassies or Commission delegations. This factor is called overt diffusion. Lastly, there is the cultural filter. This is based on the interplay between knowledge construction and the creation of social- and political identity (Manners, 2002, pp. 244-245).

When following the NPE concept as coined by Manners, it can be argued that this theory is useful to attain more SA. Mainly because the EU is capable of shaping the system in countries

outside the EU which eventually results in relative power for the EU. Ultimately, this can lead to a multilateral framework that upholds these norms and uses this framework to discourage the emergence of opposing geopolitical or geo-economical blocs (Palm, 2021).

#### 2.3.2. Market Power Europe

Whereas the EU most certainly has normative characteristics, one could argue that the EU affects the international system most with its single market and market-related policies and regulation (Damro, 2012; Damro, 2015). Although it could be argued that the core norm of liberty as defined by Manners (2002) can also include market freedom, the EU adds a layer of regulations and interventions acting as constraints on capitalism, resulting in a theory referred to as market power Europe (MPE) (Damro, 2012, p. 685). MPE contains three characteristics that help better understand the concept.

First, there is the single market. This represents the EU's material existence and its most pressing aspect in the international system (Allen & Smith, 1990). Due to the size of the EU economy in a global context, 14% of world trade in 2021, as a market power, the EU should be taken seriously (Eurostat, 2021). According to Drezner (2008), market size is important for two reasons. First, it affects the material incentives when governments chose to co-ordinate regulatory standards or not. Second, the internal market reduces the incentive to switch standards, which encourages third parties to adjust to set standards (Drezner, 2008, p.32).

The second characteristic is how MPE takes into account the EU as a regulatory institution. Due to its ability to shape economic regulation, it is capable of both liberalizing and restricting market access and thus exercising this as a power. Furthermore, it has sanctioning authority, and providing the ability to pose sanctions on third parties for non-compliance is a powerful instrument (Damro, 2012, p. 688). By banning market entry or imposing fines, the EU has the power to influence third parties with solely its market power (Bach & Newman, 2007, p. 832). The last characteristic is interest contestation. Damro (2012) describes this characteristic as

[...] interest groups may push specifically for the externalization, whether coercive or non-coercive, of internal regulation. As external actors observe the internal contestation and anticipate outcomes, the EU's unintentional MPE may increase. When proexternalization interest groups begin to influence policy-making and regulatory outcomes, their activity bolsters the EU's intentional MPE (p. 689).

In conclusion, the EU's identity as an MPE stems from the interplay of three key characteristics: material existence, institutional features, and interest contestation. Similar to Manners' (2002)

concept that the EU has a normative foundation that prompts it to behave normatively, these characteristics build upon the theory of NPE in a way that the presence and interdependence of these three characteristics predispose the EU to act as MPE. Arguably, SA falls into the scope of MPE. SA aims to enable the EU to make decisions without the need for third parties, whenever it desires, in strategic areas. This also means that Europe needs to understand that unilateral free trade sometimes also means tolerating asymmetric terms. Pohl (2021) mentions that

Unilateral free trade today does not just mean eliminating tariffs without reciprocity, but tolerating asymmetric terms of trade whereby a trading partner gains a competitive edge through unfair means that can range from unacceptable labour practices, climate degradation, uncontrolled epidemics, forced technology transfers, subsidies and so on.

Pohl (2021) calls this 'a controlled burn.' By protecting against protectionism, the EU benefits by sometimes letting third parties benefit in certain areas. In other words, the EU can benefit by utilizing its market power.

#### 2.3.3. Liberal Intergovernmentalism

Liberal intergovernmentalism (LI) is a theory developed by Moravcsik (1993). Moravcsik argues that Member States are the primary actors in international relations who pursue their interests through negotiations and bargaining with other states. In the context of the EU, LI argues that states participate in the integration process because they believe it will advance their national interests. In essence, this means that Member States willingly transfer part of their sovereignty to institutions such as the EC because they expect it will benefit them in the end and it is not possible to achieve similar results in another way (Moravcsik, 1993). The theory distinguishes between two factors that define the traits and characteristics of EU member states. The first aspect is national preference (Moravcsik, 1993, pp. 489-496; Moravcsik & Schimmelfennig, 2004, pp. 69-70). Member States have different opinions about several issues, such as trade policy or foreign policy. Some Member States focus more on free trade, whereas others prioritize protecting domestic industries.

The second aspect is bargaining power. Member States with more bargaining power - usually the larger and wealthier states such as Germany or France - are more capable of shaping the integration process to their advantage. They can use their economic power to push for beneficial policies, while smaller states are more likely to be sidelined (Moravcsik, 1993, pp. 496-506; Moravcsik & Schimmelfennig, 2004, pp. 70-73). Because according to LI Member States are

more inclined to pursue their interests, which can affect the realization of ESA. Mainly because EU interests are inferior to national interests. An example of this is the case where Germany agreed to buy more COVID-19 vaccines on its own, despite the agreement with the EU to not bilaterally negotiate with the pharmaceutical companies (Deutsch et al., 2021). Although states pursue their interests and will act rationally, liberal intergovernmentalism will result in intergovernmental bargaining power and collective institutions at the European level. As long as it serves their interests, states are willing to delegate powers. The problem, however, is that when it comes to SA, every member state has its national interests. It will therefore be difficult to translate the concept of SA into EU policy as long there are states with a liberal intergovernmentalism view.

#### 2.3.4. Collective Power Europe

Where both NPE and MPE are theories that focus on a specific set of tools - rules and values and the internal market – both theories are insufficient in a multilateral world full of power competition. A theory that aims to describe Europe in a new geopolitical era is collective power Europe (CPE) (Laffan, 2023). The concept of CPE looks beyond NPE and MPE to establish an overarching concept that enables it to identify where Europe needs to go to become a more capable actor of exercising soft power and hard power (Laffan, 2023, p. 3). The theory focusses on three areas: leadership and framing, mobilizing and coordinating institutional capacity and agility and innovation of the policy toolkit.

Leadership and framing refer to the challenge of interpreting and identifying crises before they can react. For the EU to act, it needs to reach an agreement with all member states before action can be taken. Because of the many different leaders, leadership in the EU is considered both collective and reciprocal (Müller & Van Esch, 2019, p. 1052). Together with leadership, collective framing should be taken into account. Because there is a constant tension between forces withing the EU, the way crises are framed plays a significant role in EU politics. Steinberg (1998) defined framing as "the process of deliberative and focused persuasive communication essential for the mobilization of a consensus before collective action and as the cognitive process necessary for orienting and sustaining collective action." The EU's ability to collectively agree on a frame promptly is a key component of CPE (Laffan, 2023, p. 6).

The second element of CPE is mobilizing and coordination institutional capacity. The institutions involved in EU policymaking are central to EU governance, and to effectively express collective power, all institutions must work within a collaborative framework (Laffan, 2023, p. 9-10). Lastly, there is the element of agility and innovation in the policy toolkit. This

element is potentially the most relevant for attaining more SA. When confronting crises, the EUs first reaction is to look at the existing policy toolkit (Laffan, 2023, p. 13). When there is no suitable solution, only then will the EU start to look at innovative instruments to tackle the crisis. Whereas this is more politically demanding, it is often seen as a last resort. However, new policy instruments can be critical to get things done. In the case of SA, it is possible that the existing policy is not enough for specific measures, and new instruments need to be implemented. According to Laffan (2023), however, CPE must be seen as a theory that analyzes crises. One of the examples is the Russian invasion of Ukraine, where the EU swiftly reacted by cutting off the supply of Russian oil and gas, showing leadership, mobilizing institutional capacity and innovating the policy toolkit.

#### 2.4 Strategic Autonomy

SA is a relatively new term that emerged in the late 1990s. The term is used extensively in academic literature and think tank pieces, but much less in official documentation from EU institutions. This section aims to identify both the academic definition as well as the institutional definition. This is done by an extensive review of existing literature. The academic definition includes articles as well as policy papers and reports by think tanks, whereas the institutional definition will focus on official documents published by any of the EU institutions.

#### 2.4.1 Institutional definition

The concept of SA has been around since the wars in the Balkans in the 1990s. In the St. Malo agreement of 1998, Great Britain and France included a passage referring to "the capacity for autonomous action, backed up by credible military forces, the means to decide to use them, and a readiness to do so" (Rutten, 2001, p. 9). After the Balkan wars, European military units shifted from heavy force to more crisis management-oriented capabilities, leaving a big part of their defensive capabilities to the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO). Up until this moment, SA was seen purely as a military-related concept. The concept of SA was forgotten about until 2007 when Commissioner for Transport of the EU Jacques Barrot gave a speech about Europe's space program Galileo and said that "I am still convinced that Europe needs Galileo, Galileo is very important for the strategic autonomy of Europe" (Deutsche Welle, 2007). Barrot referred to the situation where Europe was fully dependent on either the US or Russia for the use of GPS navigation. After the words from Barrot, and all the budget cuts during the financial crisis and Euro crisis in 2008 and 2009, it took until 2016 before the concept resurfaced.

In the 2010s European power politics re-emerged. After the annexation of Crimea by Russian soldiers and the situation in the Middle East, including the 2015 terrorist attacks in Paris and Brussels, the call for stronger defence capabilities became louder in the European Union (Järvenpää et al., 2019, p. 3; Zandzee et al., 2020, p. 7). Ultimately, this led to the presentation of the EU Global Strategy (EUGS) in 2016. In this document, officially published by the European External Action Service (EEAS), the aim was to improve the state of the security and defence of the European Union but not unimportantly also emphasizing implications in areas such as economy and multilateralism (EEAS, 2016a). After the publication of the EUGS, some member states remained sceptical about the concept of SA, fearing the decoupling from NATO or the US and thus not having safety guarantees (Bargués, 2021, p. 8). The notable exception is France. French President Emmanuel Macron has always been transparent about his ambitions for Europe. During his speech at the Sorbonne University in Paris he stated that "in the area of defence, our aim needs to be ensuring Europe's autonomous operating capabilities, in complement to NATO. The basis for this autonomy has been laid, with historic progress in recent months [..]" (Macron, 2017). Later in his speech, he laid out his ideas to link together different areas, including the economy and technological infrastructure to become more strategically autonomous. Macrons' plans were again met with scepticism, especially in Germany (Nienaber, 2017; Pothier, 2017; Dempsey, 2018). It is interesting to note that the concept of SA slowly shifted from purely focused on defensive capabilities to including other strategic areas such as new technologies and critical raw materials. The first big change in conceptualizing SA was in March 2020 when the European Commission (EC) introduced 'A New Industrial Strategy for Europe.' The Commission dedicated a chapter to SA in the areas of finance, industry and healthcare defining the concept as

Europe's strategic autonomy is about reducing dependence on others for things we need the most: critical materials and technologies, food, infrastructure, security and other strategic areas. They also provide Europe's industry with an opportunity to develop its own markets, products and services which boost competitiveness. (European Commission, 2020)

The definition provided by the Commission opened the door to a more broad interpretation. More specifically, by acknowledging the EU needs to reduce its dependence on "things we need the most," the concept was given a more specific meaning. However, it still lacks a clear definition of strategic areas or markets which is necessary to design policy. The industrial strategy was quickly followed by "a roadmap for recovery" in April 2020, in which the EU's response to COVID-19 was laid out. In this report, it was mentioned that

We must ensure the strategic autonomy of the EU through a dynamic industrial policy [...] The Covid-19 pandemic has shown the pressing need to produce critical goods in Europe, to invest in strategic value chains and to reduce over-dependency on third countries in these areas. There is a need to build more resilient infrastructure to deal with unforeseen events, in particular in the health sector (European Council. 2020).

In this example, SA has a strong economic aspect. A dynamic industrial policy aims to strengthen European industries which results in economic benefits. When looking at the characteristics of MPE, it has many similarities. This example includes material existence, institutional features and interest contestation. This definition by the Council builds upon the one from the Commission, however, it is more focused on supply chains and critical goods, comparable to the ambition on enhancing the EU's Defence Technological and Industrial Base (EDTIB) (Kleczka et al., 2021). Whereas supply chains have become more global and complex, regulating them is required to protect critical assets and industries (Gehrke, 2022). Nonetheless, again there is no clear definition of what critical goods entail in a broader sense. This shows again that the concept of ESA has evolved from a strong focus on security and defence in the early 2000s to a more broad focus including several strategic areas and critical goods, even though it remains unclear which areas are considered strategic. To identify the critical areas, it is more useful to look at individual member states. Since the concept is constantly being developed, national leaders are defining their definition of critical areas. For example, Finnish prime minister Marin opted that Europe needs SA in energy, food, defence and technology (Marin, 2022). Another example is where French minister Bruno Le Maire spoke of "an exceptional alignment of stars, an opportunity to achieve ESA, through disruptive innovation, research and industrialization" talking about SA in healthcare specifically (Le Maire, 2022). Another area that is often referred to as critical, is raw materials. Commissioner Thierry Breton said that "The goal being to make sure that our strategic dependencies diminish. Because achieving our digital, green and resilience objectives without a secure access to raw materials is simply not possible," referring to the dominant position of China for the supply of raw materials (Breton, 2022). Lastly, the European Commission aims to reduce reliance on countries like China and Russia for natural resources, critical infrastructure, and renewable energy in the 2020s (European Council, 2023). In the 2021 strategic foresight report it was ultimately identified what the ten strategic areas are that the EU should focus on to ensure the EUs freedom to act (European Commission, 2021). These defined areas are:

- 1. Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems
- 2. Securing decarbonised and affordable energy
- 3. Strengthening capacity in data management, artificial intelligence and cutting edge technologies
- 4. Securing and diversifying supply of critical raw materials
- 5. Ensuring first-mover global position in standard-setting
- 6. Building a resilience and future-proof economics and financial systems
- 7. Developing and retaining skills and talent matching EU ambitions
- 8. Strengthening security and defence capacities and access to space
- 9. Working with global partners to promote peace, security and prosperity for all
- 10. Strengthening the resilience of institutions

This shows that the EC has prioritized a plan of action based on the continuously evolving concept of SA. The ten strategic areas are derived from discussions from the past decades and provide an overview of the priorities for the coming years. Furthermore, the EC has identified four key global megatrends that will have the most severe impact on the EU in the future: climate change, technological transformations, pressure on democracy and values and shift in the global order and demography.

# 2.4.2 Academic definition

When looking at the academic definition of SA, it is expected to be less coherent. The reason, thereof, is that literature often is focused on one specific academic field, not looking beyond the scope of that field.

In academic literature, the concept is often looked at from a military perspective. Meijer and Brooks (2021) define the concept as

the institutional capacity to independently plan and conduct military operations across the full spectrum of conflict (including in high-intensity military operations such as expeditionary warfare and territorial defense missions) and to autonomously develop and produce the related defense capabilities with minimal or no assistance from the United States (p. 8). This definition specifically defines the concept in the military field and touches on the dependence on the US. The reference to the US is not on itself, as it is mentioned more often in the literature related to military capabilities, for example by Besch and Scazzieri (2020) who argue that "in the traditional sense [...] strategic autonomy refers only to security and defence, and denotes Europe's ability to act without the US or NATO if necessary." The statement that Europe should become less dependent on the United States is not agreed upon by all the European member states. For example, Estonia, argues that SA would be damaging to NATO and its relation with the US or Poland which sees NATO and the US as the pillars of its security policy (Franke & Varna, 2019, pp. 41-68). This misalignment makes it difficult to define the concept of SA, as there is still no cohesion in what it should entail.

A consensus in the literature is that Europe should become more autonomous when it comes to security and defence matters in general. Järvenpää et al. (2019) defined SA as "the ability of European states to set their priorities and make their own decisions in matters of foreign policy, security, and defence, and have the means to implement these decisions alone, or with partners if they so choose" (p. 1). This definition touches upon priority setting and decision-making autonomously. Interesting about the definition is that it clearly states that the EU should have the ability to act autonomously, but only when they choose to do so. This is similar to the institutional definitions and likely can be accepted by more member states as well. Priority setting and autonomous decision-making are broadly defined, but a similar definition is given by Zandzee et al. (2020, p. 8), who define the concept as "the ability to set one's priorities and make one's own decisions," which is very general and lacks a more specific definition of what this should include. Lippert et al. (2019) use a similar definition, albeit more political than strategic:

strategic autonomy as the ability to set one's own priorities and make one's own decisions in matters of foreign policy and security, together with the institutional, political and material wherewithal to carry these through – in cooperation with third parties, or if need be alone (p. 5).

It becomes clear that the core of SA lies in the ability to set own priorities and make autonomous decisions, whether this is in a defence context or not. That the concept has developed over the years is shown by literature that builds upon the definitions in different academic fields. Van den Abeele (2021), for example, took the definition more broadly. He argues that the concept was solely linked to the common foreign and security policy of the EU, mentioning that "Europe needs a more integrated, sustainable, innovative and competitive defense technological and

industrial base to develop and sustain defense capabilities" (p. 13). However, he argues that with the communication from the EC regarding *A New Industrial Strategy for Europe*, the definition needs to be interpreted more broadly (European Commission, 2020). The industry strategy of the EC placed SA in a broader perspective, stating that

Europe's strategic autonomy is about reducing dependence on others for things we need the most: critical materials and technologies, food, infrastructure, security and other strategic areas. They also provide Europe's industry with an opportunity to develop its own markets, products and services which boost competitiveness (p. 14).

This definition is focused more on industrial and trade policy than it is on defence policy. This shift started with the implementation of *A New Industrial Strategy for Europe*, where the EC aims "to ensure that European industry can lead the way as we enter this new age (European Commission, 2020)" a topic that became increasingly important after the COVID-19 crisis when Europe's economy was hit hard and exposed how global supply chains demonstrated the role of a well-functioning and globally integrated European Single Market. Based on this report, one could argue that SA is a more comprehensive concept of MPE. Other academics, for example, Schmitz and Seidel (2022b), argue that (open) strategic autonomy has become the conceptual cornerstone of the EC's new trade strategy, emphasizing the economic aspect in the definition. This is confirmed by Miró (2022) who argues that

The concept of open strategic autonomy has been employed by EU policymakers to refer to a long but relatively coherent list of policy issues, most obviously defence, foreign, industrial and trade policy, but also financial governance, climate change, energy policy or digital sovereignty, emerging as a core principle justifying EU-level state action in the post-COVID19 world (p. 2).

A similar definition that focuses more on the economic aspects of SA is the one of Weinhardt et al. (2022) who define SA solely around economic aspects. They define it as

On the one hand, it [strategic autonomy] is geared towards reducing external economic dependencies on others. On the other hand, it is about building internal capabilities, both related to economic capabilities (e.g. through industrial policies) and through improved internal coordination (p. 110).

Lastly, some scholars argue that SA does not focus on a specific policy area per se, but it is more the general term that can be applied to different areas and proposals. This is for example done by Tocci (2021) who describes it as " the EU's capacity to shape international norms and

practices towards formally accepted institutions, laws and procedures" (p. 6). This more general definition does not imply that the EU has to act autonomously in any way, but rather that it can shape norms and use regulation as an instrument to project its power, much like the concept of Normative Power Europe defined by Manners (2002) and the EEAS (2016b). Similarly, Lavery et al. (2022) argue that SA is "understood as the need to develop into a more cohesive regional bloc capable of projecting its power internationally." Furthermore, it is argued that the concept has expanded from solely a geopolitical concept towards a geoeconomics program. The shift from being solely geopolitical to a broader view is agreed upon by Franke and Varna (2019) who argue that "European strategic autonomy is – like European sovereignty and strategic sovereignty –one of many concepts that seek to promote a more capable, independent EU at a time of growing geopolitical competition," highlighting that the core on the concept is an increasing power for Europe in a new world order.

#### 2.4.3 Preliminary conclusion

The St. Malo Agreement in 1998 introduced the concept of strategic autonomy without calling it such. The passage that mentioned: "the capacity for autonomous action, backed up by credible military forces, the means to decide to use them, and a readiness to do so," ultimately ended up being the foundation for the concept of SA. Starting as a concept that referred solely to military capabilities, it slowly expanded into other areas such as economy and technology. It took a while before the concept was introduced in official EU policy, but in March 2020, the EC released 'A new industrial strategy for Europe,' introducing SA as a concept relevant to raw materials, technology, food and security (European Commission, 2020). The introduction of this concept also led to a variety of interpretations and ideas about SA. It was followed by more generic definitions and took until 2021 before it was further developed into a strategy. The 2021 strategic foresight report defined ten strategic areas in which the EU should aim to become more SA.

With the introduction of new concepts, it becomes part of the academic debate. It is interesting to see that there are differences between how the concept evolves institutionally and how the academic debate evolves around this. As for the institutional definition, in the academic debate, the concept evolved mostly around military capabilities, more specifically around the capabilities of the EU to act without assistance from the US (Franke & Varna, 2019; Järvenpää et al., 2019; Besch & Scazzieri, 2020; Meijer & Brooks, 2021). With the expanding definition of the EC into areas besides security, the academic debate followed. A more economic and trade-oriented approach was introduced by Miró (2022), Schmitz and Seidel (2022b) and

Weinhardt et al. (2022). This shows that the debate is ever-evolving and there is no coherence in the academic debate about the definitions of the concept. Therefore, the answer to subquestion 1, '*what is the academic definition of strategic autonomy*?' is ambiguous. There is not one coherent definition, but there are elements that tend to return in the debate. Of all the different definitions, the most common similarity is that the EU should be able to act autonomously when it desires to do so. This could include military capabilities, supply chains, and the production of critical goods, among others. However, there is relative accordance that the EU needs the capability to make its own decisions and set its priorities. Secondly, several scholars mention the reduced dependence on third countries. This is a step further than solely being able to act on its own. It is, however, not entirely clear in what specific areas and to what extent dependence should be reduced. Moreover, the literature shows that the concept is everevolving and that there is not one uniform definition that includes all strategic areas and finds accordance between scholars.

The second sub-question, '*how do the different relevant European institutions define strategic autonomy*?' offers the possibility for a more specific answer. The EC ultimately defined the concept as "the capacity of the EU to act autonomously – that is, without being dependent on other countries – in strategically important policy areas" (Grevi, 2019, p. 3; Anghel et al., 2020, p. 1; European Parliament, 2020; Michel 2020; Van den Abeele, 2020, p. 6; Damen, 2022, p. 1). This definition includes the most important aspect of the concept, not being dependent on third countries, while not excluding certain policy areas. Furthermore, mentioning the capacity to act autonomously implies that the goal is not to decouple from its allies, but rather that the EU aims to have the possibility when needed.

# 3. Methodology

# 3.1 Research design

The research on ESA will employ a qualitative research design. This approach has been chosen because the primary goal of the research is to understand the concept of SA and to investigate its possible presence in trade agreements. This will be achieved by analysing literature, existing documents and publications, and previous academic research.

Additionally, the research will have a descriptive design. This is because it is not possible to influence variables to measure SA before and after concluding a specific trade agreement. Many other factors also influence the outcome and are not easily measurable. Therefore, the

descriptive design will be used to identify certain characteristics or trends. This includes the extent to which the dimensions of SA are present or absent at certain points in time.

# 3.2 Method of Data Collection

To answer the central research question, the research is divided into four sub-questions. This is done to make the research more comprehensible, therefore, several methods are used to answer the sub-questions.

*SQ1: What is the academic definition of strategic autonomy?* To answer this sub-question, research will mostly rely on the analysis of academic journals and publications from think tanks and other organizations. This can best be described as a literature review, or more specifically a semi-systematic literature review. The latter was chosen because this type of literature review focuses on topics that have been conceptualized differently and are studied within various disciplines. Because knowledge on this topic develops very quickly, it is hard to keep up with the latest developments. However, a thorough literature review is important to gain an understanding of the definitions of the research (Snyder, 2019). This literature review is carried out in chapter 2.

The number of articles on this subject is vast and cannot be completely analysed. For example, when looking at the Journal Storage (JSTOR) database, there are 13.564 results when searching for ESA in journals between 2010-2020. It is, therefore, necessary to make a selection of the documents and cross-reference them with the date of publication and the timeframe of the research.

*SQ2: How do the different relevant European institutions define strategic autonomy*? To answer sub-question 2, the analysis will mostly focus on document analysis. A document analysis is a procedure for reviewing documents. It requires that data is examined and interpreted in order (Bowen, 2009). Since it is about definitions from European institutions, the most important data has to be collected from documents published by these institutions. This will include documents from the EC, EP, and EEA, among others, and will be carried out with the help of a literature review in chapter 2. This will also include a vast amount of documents. When looking at the Publications Office of the European Union and searching for 'strategic autonomy' there are 117.238 results. This makes it impossible to analyse all documents, again needing to filter the documents. It is important to understand that the definition the EC uses has only been used in official documents since 2020. This makes it more difficult to find the right

documents. Using a search with synonyms or terms that imply similar concepts, such as open strategic autonomy or strategic sovereignty, will provide more relevant results.

*SQ3:* How have the European institutions presented European interests in trade agreements that were concluded between 2010 and 2020? To answer this sub-question, a detailed analysis of the trade agreements is required. This includes all trade agreements that were signed between 2010 and 2020. The agreements will be analysed in chapter 4, to see whether there are chapters that can be linked to the list from the EC containing, ten strategic areas of which five are considered relevant for this research. These five points are

- 1. Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems
- 2. Securing decarbonized and affordable energy
- 3. Strengthening capacity in data management, artificial intelligence and cutting-edge technology
- 4. Securing and diversifying supply of critical raw materials
- 5. Building a resilience and future-proof economics and financial system

To analyse the trade agreements, all individual agreements will be analysed, and the five points will be linked to relevant chapters in the trade agreements. This will be done on the hand of the following model:



Figure 1: Analysis of trade agreements.

First, the relevant trade agreements that were signed between 2010 and 2020 will be gathered. The agreements are available in the Official Journal of the European Union. Secondly, the content of the trade agreements will be reviewed carefully, paying close attention to the relevant chapters or sections that address the five points as described above and analysing the topics of interest.

The next step is to analyse the content of the relevant chapters, sections and articles to determine whether there is a notion of concepts related to SA. Here it will be analysed if some explicit statements or provisions indicate a desire for autonomy or independence in the strategic areas mentioned or provisions that promote policies or measures that align with the concept of SA. This will be done with the help of the scheme as seen in Figure 1. This will capture the presence or absence of elements related to the five points in every selected trade agreement per country.

Trade agreement with Country X	Notion Present	Typology of relevant articles
Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems	Yes/No	
Securing decarbonized and affordable energy	Yes/No	
Strengthening capacity in data management, artificial intelligence and cutting-edge technology	Yes/No	
Securing and diversifying supply of critical raw materials	Yes/No	
Building a resilience and future-proof economics and financial system	Yes/No	

Figure 2: Scheme to analyse notions of strategic autonomy per country.

After following the scheme, the chapters or sections are analysed to identify the presence or absence of the elements related to the five points derived from the EC. This helps to quantitatively analyse the frequency and extent to which the trade agreements address certain topics, and identify patterns or trends across different agreements or countries. This is done by carefully reading through the articles of all the selected trade agreements and scanning for relevant articles.

The last step is to interpret the results. Once the agreements are coded, the results are analysed to determine the extent to which the notion of SA is present in the trade agreements. Hereby it

is important to consider the frequency, scope, and specificity of the language, and interpret the findings in the context of the broader goals, objectives, and provisions as set out by the EC.

Because of the descriptive methods for this research, most information comes from published documents by institutional actors. This includes the actors mentioned before (EP, EC, EEA) but also, for example, documents from the government of the third country that ratified the agreements or even documents from the WTO. Documents from the WTO can help to gain insight into the rules and procedures of trade agreements.

*SQ4:* How can the strategic autonomy approach of the European Commission be identified in recent trade policy development? The analysis for sub-question four will be similar to the analysis for sub-question three. The difference is that it will focus on trade policy in a more general sense, as well as look at trade agreements that are completed since 2020, as there are no agreements signed in this period. This also means that the coding scheme is updated to include concepts, notions or policies that are implemented after 2020.

#### 3.3 Validity, Reliability and limitations

In terms of validity, there is a distinction between content validity and construct validity. Content validity refers to the range of meanings within a specific concept. In this research, the different meanings of SA will be examined. There may be differences between academic definitions and definitions used by European institutions such as the EC. Distinguishing between academic literature and institutional documents is useful since the concept of SA has changed over time. The first institutional notion was in 1998, as described in the literature review. The academic literature is useful to find out how the concept was incorporated into policymaking in several areas, and how it changed when it became more institutionalized. Therefore, it is essential to ensure that all dimensions within the concept are covered. This will be done by analysing different definitions, both academic and institutional, to determine if the dimensions between definitions vary, and where there are similarities. Since the research focuses on trade agreements that are concluded by institutional actors, most likely the institutional definition will play a more significant role. In light of the above, content validity in this research is guaranteed by the use of the official journal of the EU, where trade agreements are published which means that the data used is considered objectively and correct. For construct validity, the academic and policy framing used in the theory is taken into account.

The research focuses on analysing trade agreements and their impact on SA, primarily using official documents from European institutions such as the EC, the EEA, and the EP. Reliability

is a critical concept in research and is used to evaluate the quality and validity of the research. It refers to the consistency and stability of results across multiple measurements or observations. In other words, if a measure or instrument is reliable, it should produce consistent results when used repeatedly under the same conditions. Since the analysis for this research is based on publications from the official journal of the EU, the data processed can be considered reliable. Furthermore, the methods used are the same for every trade agreement or (policy) initiative, thus consistent. However, this also results in some limitations.

As with all research, there may be limitations to consider. For this research, the following limitations should be taken into account. First, there is the interpretation of language. Interpreting and analysing the language used in the relevant documents can be subjective and open to different interpretations. For example, legal and technical terms, nuances in wording, and contextual understanding may be required for accurate analysis. Another aspect to consider is the timeframe. Focusing on trade agreements signed since 2010 could limit the broader context and evolution of the concept of SA in trade agreements. Furthermore, findings from one trade agreement may not apply to other regions, countries, or periods. Trade agreements can vary vastly in their provisions, goals, and context. Findings in different agreements or regions should not be considered equal without thorough consideration of the specific context.

Lastly, there is the concept of contextual complexity. As discussed in the literature review, SA is a multifaceted concept with varying interpretations and can be influenced by different factors. Analysing trade agreements in isolation may not capture the full complexity and dynamics of SA in practice. It is important to take notice of these limitations and consider them when interpreting the results of the research.

# 4. Strategic autonomy in trade agreements between 2010 and 2020

In this chapter, sub-question three, *how have European institutions presented European interests in trade agreements that were concluded between 2010 and 2020?* will be answered. All trade agreements signed between 2010 and 2020 are analysed and discussed based on the strategic areas as defined by the EC. Within this timeframe, 19 agreements were signed, of which seven AAs, five FTAs and seven EPAs. Furthermore, five agreements are with countries in Europe, thee in the Americas, eight in Asia and three in Africa. A complete overview of the trade agreements signed between 2010 and 2020 can be found in appendix 1.

# 4.1. Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems

According to the EC, the EU's healthcare systems are among the best in the world, but it is necessary to increase its resilience and sustainability. When looking at the trade agreements, there will be distinguished between health systems and food systems to keep the analysis clearer.

# 4.1.1. Health systems

Of the 20 trade agreements that fall withing the selected timeframe, five contain articles relevant to health systems. Whereas most of them are general in the sense that it is agreed that both parties 'aim to cooperate' to some extent, some are more extensive. For example, in the agreements with Armenia (2016), Central America (2012), Kazakhstan (2016), Moldova (2014) and Ukraine (2014) there are general articles that mention 'the aim to cooperate in developing efficient health systems.' Most likely, the aim to cooperate is included to increase healthcare service access and make it easier to increase healthcare standards for potential member states, although the latter statement is not specifically mentioned. An example is article 91 of the Armenia agreement, which states:

### Article 91

The Parties shall develop their cooperation in the field of public health with a view to raising its level, in line with common health values and principles, and as a precondition for sustainable development and economic growth (Comprehensive and Enhanced Partnership Agreement, 2017).

This article is almost identical to art. 44 of the Central America agreement (2012)<sup>1</sup>, art. 233 of the Kazakhstan agreement (2016)<sup>2</sup>, art. 113 of the Moldova agreement (2014)<sup>3</sup> and art. 426 of the Ukraine agreement (2014)<sup>4</sup>. The only differences are in the wording of the articles These articles are formulated generically and will most likely not contribute to SA. It can, however, be considered as the EU shaping norms and values, which are specifically mentioned in the articles. Shaping international norms and values will also add to EU influence.

The agreement with Moldova is more extensive when it comes to healthcare. In art. 114, it is specified what the cooperation shall cover under the agreement:

# Article 114

The cooperation shall cover, in particular, the following areas:

(a) strengthening of the public health system of the Republic of Moldova, in particular through implementing health sector reform, ensuring high-quality primary healthcare, and improving health governance and healthcare financing;

(b) epidemiological surveillance and control of communicable diseases, such as HIV/AIDS, viral hepatitis and tuberculosis, as well as increased preparedness for public health threats and emergencies;

(c) prevention and control of non-communicable diseases, mainly through exchange of information and best practices, promoting healthy lifestyles and addressing major health determinants, such as nutrition and addiction to alcohol, drugs and tobacco [...] (EU-Moldova association agreement, 2014)

In addition, in art. 115 it is added that the cooperation should enable "the progressive integration of the Republic of Moldova into the EU's health related networks" and "the progressive enhancement of interaction between the Republic of Moldova and the European Centre for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Parties agree to cooperate in developing efficient health systems, competent and sufficient health workforce capacity, fair financing mechanisms and social protection schemes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Parties shall develop their cooperation in the field of public health with a view to raising the level of protection of human health and reducing health inequalities, in line with common health values and principles, and as a precondition for sustainable development and economic growth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Parties agree to develop their cooperation in the field of public health, with a view to raising the level of public health safety and protection of human health as a precondition for sustainable development and economic growth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Parties shall develop their cooperation in the public health field, to raise the level of public health safety and protection of human health as a precondition for sustainable development and economic growth.

Disease Prevention and Control." Similar objectives are also laid out in the Ukraine agreement, in articles 426-429. It could be said that the articles add to the theory of NPE, whereas the EU influences the norms of other states, in this case, Moldova and Ukraine, which are both bordering EU member states. Although this may not directly add to SA, it does strengthen the EU's position because like-minded countries can increase the resilience of the EU by forming a bloc of likeminded countries.

### 4.1.2. Food systems

When it comes to food systems, the EC mostly refers to the issues of climate change and nature degradation distorting the supply in major food-producing regions. A special reference is made to biotechnology, where it is mentioned that:

Biotechnology, including new genomic techniques, could play a key role in developing innovative and sustainable ways to protect harvests from pests, diseases and the climate change effects. A coherent and sustainable approach to the whole food system, from food production to reducing food waste will be crucial (European Commission, 2021d, p. 9).

In the agreement with Canada (2016), some articles relate specifically to biotechnology, these are Articles 25.1 and 25.2). In art. 25.1(a), it is agreed upon to "strengthening bilateral cooperation on biotechnology through the Dialogue on Biotech Market Access Issues." In art. 25.2 section 2, more specific cooperation is agreed upon. For example, as mentioned in the following article:

#### Article 25.2

The Parties also note the importance of the following shared objectives with respect to cooperation in the field of biotechnology:

(a) to exchange information on policy, regulatory and technical issues of common interest related to biotechnology products, and, in particular, information on their respective systems and processes for risk assessments for decision-making on the use of genetically modified organisms;

(b) to promote efficient science-based approval processes for biotechnology products;

(c) to cooperate internationally on issues related to biotechnology, such as low level presence of genetically modified organisms
The specific article below can be found in the agreements with Armenia (2016), Georgia (2014), Japan (2017), Kazakhstan (2016), Moldova (2014) and Ukraine (2014). Notable here is how these are all agreements with countries neighbouring the EU, plus Japan.

## Article 68

Cooperation between the Parties in the field of agriculture and rural development shall cover, inter alia, the following areas:

(c) promoting the modernisation and the sustainability of agricultural production;

Although this should not be considered as cooperation directly increasing SA, it does likely albeit indirectly add to the EU becoming more resilient in this strategic area. Exchanging policy and regulatory issues can lead to better access to biotechnological innovations in the EU, and thus becoming less dependent on one specific country. It is, however, questionable whether this is intentional or should be seen merely as a result of general cooperation.

## 4.2 Securing decarbonized and affordable energy

In the 2021 strategic foresight report, the EC noted that "Securing a sufficient supply of decarbonised and affordable energy is key on the path to a greener and more digital Europe" (European Commission, 2021d, p. 9). It should be noted that the agreements in the 2010-2020 timeframe are analysed with the help of the contemporary SA paradigm. This aspect focusses heavily on reducing EU energy dependency and the geopolitical shift that it brings, due to strategic dependencies becoming less important (e.g. oil), as well as the increasing dependency on new natural resources (European Commission, 2021d, p. 9). It seems clear that trade agreements signed with countries on the European subcontinent, or bordering EU member states, are the most relevant. The EC incorporated (renewable) energy as well as raw materials for the energy transition in this strategic area. However, for clarity reasons, articles in agreements that refer to strategic resources required for the energy transition, i.e. rare earth elements (REE), are covered in section 4.4.

In 16 of the 20 agreements within the timeframe analysed in this chapter, there are several provisions relevant to this strategic area. Of these 16 agreements, five are with countries on the European subcontinent: Armenia (2017), Bosnia and Herzegovina (2015), Kosovo (2016), Moldova (2014) and Ukraine (2014). The other agreements that have some mentioning of this topic are Canada (2016), Central America (2012), the Colombia-Ecuador-Peru agreement (2012), ESA countries (2017), Georgia (2014), Iraq (2012), Kazakhstan (2015), Singapore (2018), South Korea (2011) and Vietnam (2019).

Agreements that are signed with counties located on the European subcontinent, or countries that border European countries, are in general more extensive regarding energy security and energy efficiency. Generally, there are more specific objectives mentioned and there are articles that specifically work towards, for example, integration in the EU energy grid. This is cogent when one looks at the *synchronous grid of Continental Europe* as shown in figure 3. The integration of a country's energy grids into one of the regional groups (RG) is incorporated into trade agreements with several countries. For example, article 107 of the agreement with Bosnia and Herzegovina states that:

#### Article 107

Cooperation shall focus on priority areas related to the Community acquis in the field of energy, [...] and shall be developed with a view to the gradual integration of Bosnia and Herzegovina into Europe's energy markets (Stabilisation and association agreement, 2014).

Whereas integration into the European energy grid is not specifically mentioned, it is implied in this article. Similar articles are found in the agreements with Moldova (2014) in art. 76 and the agreement with Ukraine (2014) in art. 338(c), where it is specifically mentioned that cooperation should cover "progressive integration of the Ukrainian electricity network into the European electricity network." This article should be seen merely as an aim to cooperate, whereas no obligations are mentioned. Synchronizing energy grids add first glance seems to add to SA, but it is difficult to determine to what extent it is helpful. It is clear, however, that the EU energy grid will become more resilient and have more capacity when synchronized with the grids of third countries.



Figure 3: Overview of the Synchronous grid of Continental Europe. Figure: author, data: (ENTSO-E, 2015; ENTSOE-E, 2022)

Another aspect the EC focusses on is energy security. The International Energy Agency (IEA) defines energy security as 'reliable, affordable access to all fuels and energy sources' (IEA, 2023). According to Eurostat, in 2020, 57,5% of the EU's available energy was imported (Eurostat, 2023). This also means that in case of a (global) crisis, the energy supply in Europe is uncertain, as the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022 has shown (McWilliams et al., 2023).

To increase energy security, the EU could aim to become less dependent on energy imports and generate more energy itself. Whereas this is mostly a matter of European policy, this is only captured in trade agreements with countries on the European subcontinent, for example in the Armenia agreement (2017):

## **Article 42(2)(b)**

That cooperation shall cover, inter alia, the following areas:

(b) the enhancement of energy security, including by stimulating the diversification of energy sources and routes

Article 338 of the Ukraine agreement (2014) is more extensive, noting that:

# Article 338(c)

(c) modernisation and enhancement of existing energy infrastructures of common interests, including energy-generating capacities and the integrity, safety and security of the energy networks, and progressive integration of the Ukrainian electricity network into the European electricity network, [...] in order to diversify energy sources, suppliers, transportation routes and transport methods in an economic and environmentally sound manner (EU-Ukraine association agreement, 2014)

This article shows the importance of energy security and aims to incorporate the Ukrainian energy grid into the European energy network. As of 2022, the grids of Ukraine and Moldova synchronized with the European grid, as was aimed for in the 2014 agreement (ENTSO-E, 2022). Whether this adds to SA is difficult to verify, however, it does make the European grid more resilient, and, makes these specific countries less dependent on, in this case, Russia.

# 4.3. Strengthening capacity in data management, artificial intelligence and cutting-edge technology

"The EU's digital sovereignty will depend on capacity to store, extract and process data, while satisfying the requirements of trust, security and fundamental rights" (European Commission, 2021d, p. 10). Although the importance of this strategic area is expressed severely, it is underrepresented in trade agreements. This is most likely because the topic gained importance quickly over the last few years, but was less of an issue in the timeframe these agreements were negotiated. This section will distinguish between three topics: data management, cutting-edge technologies and semiconductors. The latter is being analysed apart from cutting-edge technologies due to their (strategic) importance.

#### 4.3.1. Data management

Data management is a concept with a wide variety of definitions, which mostly refer to the collection and storage of (personal) data. Although it is mentioned as one of the strategic areas, there is not much to be found in trade agreements. This strategic area is defined as "the EU should build capacities to store data and ensure access to open, secure and transparent data and high data-rated connection availability" (European Commission, 2020, p. 13). Most notions are very general and refer solely to cooperation in the area of data management, or inclusion into EU legislation. This is for example the case in the Bosnia and Herzegovina agreement (2015):

#### Article 79

Bosnia and Herzegovina shall harmonise its legislation concerning personal data protection with Community law and other European and international legislation on privacy upon the entry into force of this Agreement. Bosnia and Herzegovina shall establish independent supervisory bodies with sufficient financial and human resources in order to efficiently monitor and guarantee the enforcement of national personal data protection legislation. The Parties shall cooperate to achieve this goal

This specific article refers mostly to harmonizing legislation, which could be defined as normative power expressed by the EU. The lack of articles regarding data management can be explained with the help of the years in which the agreements were negotiated. For example, the association agreements with Moldova and Ukraine were drafted in 2012, whereas for the Singapore agreement, which was signed in 2018, negotiations started as early as 2010 (Vogel, 2010). The negotiations also started before the EC proposal for the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in 2012. This extensive regulation on data management was adopted in 2016, but trade agreements signed after the proposal do not pose any differences compared to trade agreements signed before the GDPR proposal. It can be said that data management was less of an issue in those times, which explains the lack of notions.

#### 4.3.2. Cutting-edge technologies

The term cutting-edge technology is difficult to conceptualize and define as it is ambiguous and evolves rapidly. A general definition is that the concept "refers to technological devices, techniques or achievements that employ the most current and high-level IT developments; in other words, technology at the frontiers of knowledge" (Rouse, 2019). In the 2021 strategic foresight report, the EC refers to artificial intelligence (AI), the internet of things (IoT), and 5G and 6G as examples of cutting-edge technologies (European Commission, 2021d, p. 10). In all

20 trade agreements, there are nearly no mentions of cutting-edge technologies. In a much less specific manner, some articles refer to the implementation of new technologies, but not more than to the extent that both parties agree to not prevent market access for such technologies. Similar to data management, this can be explained because such technologies have only gained traction over the past years, and where not relevant or even non-existent at the times the selected agreements were negotiated.

#### 4.3.3. Semiconductors

Semiconductors are sometimes referred to as the 'new oil' or the 'oil of the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Fitch & Ip, 2023; Teer & Bertolini, 2023). The importance of semiconductors and the environment around them is also not unknown to the EC. They say that:

"Access to semiconductors could be compromised by limited production capacity, and shortages can heavily affect business continuity of different industries. The EU has notable strengths and is home to a crucial supplier of manufacturing equipment to all leading manufacturers, but it is lagging behind in the production of next-generation processors and advanced semiconductors" (European Commission, 2021d, p. 11).

According to the EC, the most important factor is investment. The EC refers to countries such as Japan and South Korea which are heavily boosting domestic semiconductor production. When it comes to the trade agreements within the selected timeframe, the most important countries are Japan, South Korea and Singapore. In figure 4 it is shown that South Korea and Japan account for 36% of global manufacturing capacity.



Global Manufacturing Capacity 2020

Figure 4: Global Semiconductor manufacturing capacity in 2020. Figure: author. Data: Varas et al. 2021

Despite the relatively large market shares of these countries, the only mentioning of semiconductors in all 20 trade agreements is in the appendixes that liberalize custom tariffs. All goods are listed using the Harmonized System (HS) codes for uniformity. This makes it possible to see whether there are differences between tariffs on certain products. For example, HS 8541 includes:

Semiconductor devices (for example, diodes, transistors, semiconductor-based transducers); photosensitive semiconductor devices, including photovoltaic cells whether or not assembled in modules or made up into panels; light-emitting diodes (LED), whether or not assembled with other light-emitting diodes (LED); mounted piezo-electric crystals

When the three main manufacturing countries, Japan, Singapore and South Korea, are compared, it is shown that for importing semiconductors the tariff rate is 0. This is the same in the agreements with ESA and SADC, thus is it not based on strategic partnerships with countries that produce more of these products. Similar to the two previous sections, semiconductors as a strategic asset is a relatively new phenomenon. Whereas their importance has been known for a longer time, the highly globalized and spread-out supply chain was not seen as an issue. The liberalized tariffs do not directly add to SA, but can possibly strengthen the position of the EU because trade in these products is liberalized. It is, however, not possible to compare whether trade agreements have affected the strategic position of the EU in this specific area.

## 4.4. Securing and diversifying supply of critical raw materials

The supply of raw materials is essential for the energy transition, as well as for other strategic areas such as the manufacturing of semiconductors and the production of cutting-edge technologies. In a study for the EC in 2020, a list of 30 critical raw materials (CRMs) was drawn up (Blengini et al., 2020). This list can be found in Appendix 2. Of these 30 CRMs, China was the main supplier for at least 18 of them, as shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5: Countries accounting for the largest share of global CRM supply. Source: Blengini et al., 2020

Because these CRMs are important for the EUs future ambitions regarding green energy, technological innovation and the production of semiconductors, it is required to diversify the supply chain to prevent becoming too dependent on a handful of countries. Trade agreements can - in theory - be utilized as an instrument to diversify the supply chain. In several agreements, a general passage about mining and raw materials is included. For example, the agreement with Armenia (2017) art. 76:

## Article 76

The Parties shall develop and strengthen their cooperation in the areas of mining and the production of raw materials, with the objectives of promoting mutual understanding, improving the business environment, exchanging information and cooperating on non-energy issues relating in particular to the mining of metallic ores and industrial minerals

This article is similar to art. 66 of the agreement with Central American countries (2012), art. 314 of the Georgia agreement (2014), art. 218 of the Kazakhstan agreement (2015) and art. 65 of the Moldova agreement (2014). The other articles that are related to mining or CRMs are focused solely on cooperation, for example, art. 77 of the Armenia agreement (2017) which highlights that:

# Article 77

The Parties shall cooperate in order to:

(a) exchange information on the developments in their mining and raw-material sectors;

(b) exchange information on matters related to trade in raw materials with the aim of promoting bilateral exchanges;

(c) exchange information and best practices in relation to the sustainable development of the mining industries; and

(d) exchange information and best practices in relation to training, skills and safety in the mining industries

None of the agreements has articles about critical raw materials or similar terms. More specifically, the only way some of the raw materials are accounted for in trade agreements is in the appendixes where tariff rates are established. It shows that the trade in CRMs is liberalized by reducing tariffs, but most of the countries involved do not possess large quantities of CRMs. Therefore, it can be concluded that the supply of CRMs is not specifically included in the trade agreements within this timeframe. As with the previous paragraphs, the reason for this could be that the supply of these materials has seen an increase over the past few years, and CRMs that are now considered critical did not have this status years ago. The shift to renewable energy sources is fairly recent, and the demand for materials required has changed and increased severely in recent years.

## 4.5. Building a resilient and future-proof economics and financial system

A resilient and stable economy is crucial for the EU to tackle its long-term challenges. To achieve this, the EU must enhance the resilience and growth potential of its economy by addressing vulnerabilities, facilitating ongoing transitions, and preparing for future shocks. This requires solid economic fundamentals, productivity improvements, increased investments, and necessary reforms, along with favourable financing conditions for the public and private sectors (European Commission, 2021d).

Removing obstacles to market integration and implementing Capital Markets Union and Banking Union is essential to diversify funding sources, strengthen domestic financial markets, and address supervisory arbitrage. This strategic area is more difficult to cover in trade agreements. It shows that mostly the agreements signed with countries on the European subcontinent have paragraphs related to this subject. Most of the articles again are phrased generally, for example, art. 61 of the Armenia agreement (2017), article 221 of the Kazakhstan agreement (2015), art. 58 of the Moldova agreement (2014) and art. 383 of the Ukraine agreement (2014) are identical:

#### Article 383

Cooperation in the areas of banking, insurance and other financial services

The Parties agree on the importance of effective legislation and practices and to cooperate in the area of financial services with the objectives of:

(a) improving the regulation of financial services;

(b) ensuring effective and adequate protection of investors and consumers of financial services;

(c) contributing to the stability and integrity of the global financial system;

(d) promoting cooperation between different actors of the financial system, including

regulators and supervisors (EU-Ukraine association agreement, 2014)

Most articles that are relevant for this area, seem to add to the theory of NPE. The agreements highlight the aim to cooperate on legislation and the importance of cooperation. Besides the more generic articles about cooperation in the financial sector, the EC also emphasizes the importance "to continue to be on the global forefront in the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing and ensure appropriate safeguards against these illicit purposes" (European Commission, 2021d, p. 14). An article about this can be found in art. 18:

## Article 18

1. The Parties shall cooperate in order to prevent the use of their financial and relevant non-financial systems for the laundering of the proceeds of criminal activities in general and drug offences in particular, as well as for the purpose of terrorism financing. That cooperation extends to the recovery of assets or funds derived from the proceeds of crime.

2. Cooperation in this area shall allow for exchanges of relevant information within the framework of the Parties' respective legislation and relevant international instruments as well as the adoption of appropriate standards to prevent and combat money laundering and the financing of terrorism equivalent to those adopted by relevant international bodies active in this area, such as the Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering (Comprehensive and Enhanced Partnership Agreement, 2017)

Similar articles can be found in art. 82 of the Bosnia and Herzegovina agreement (2015), art. 19 of the Georgia agreement (2014), art. 89 of the Kosovo agreement (2016), art. 18 of the Moldova agreement (2014) and art. 20 of the Ukraine agreement (2014). Therefore, this article seems to be standard for association agreements with countries on the European subcontinent. In other agreements, the only notion is about combatting terrorism by preventing money laundering. The articles mentioned in trade agreements do mostly add to the capability of the EU to shape international standards and strengthen its influence in this strategic area, however, it is doubtful whether this should be defined as solely a form of NPE, or that it would somehow add to SA. An argument that it would add to more SA could be that a strong financial system with countries inside and outside the EU does increase resilience.

#### 4.6. Preliminary conclusion

The analysis in Chapter 4 aimed to answer the sub-question 'how have the European institutions presented European interests in trade agreements that were concluded between 2010 and 2020? 'Based on this analysis, some articles refer to the five strategic areas as defined in chapter 3, but these articles are often generic and do not impose obligations or concrete objectives. Although this touches upon relevant topics, it seems that European institutions have not directly put their interests regarding SA into trade agreements signed between 2010 and 2020. Although, there are articles that touch upon some of the strategic areas as defined in section 3.2 and can add to the resilience of the EU. What can be said, is that trade agreements confirm existing theories such as NPE and MPE, but the theories have no effective means to achieve SA. Firstly, especially the AAs, are drawn up in a way that a third country is integrated more into the

European political and economic system. The EUs principles, norms and values are used as an instrument to further enclose third countries in the European systems and can be related to the five core norms as defined by Manners (2002): peace, liberty, democracy, rule of law and human rights. In this context, it can be said that trade agreements are a useful instrument to enable the EU to act both as a normative power and as a market power. Furthermore, it can also be concluded that association agreements have a broader purpose than just facilitating trade, but aim to strengthen cooperation in different areas.

Besides the aspect of NPE, trade agreements also strengthen the EU as a market power. Especially the EPAs and FTAs focus on opening up markets both ways. The EU does this successfully in a way that it harmonizes tariffs and quotas and thus creates a level playing field for many countries, which is also how it is defined in the CCP. With the importance of the single market, it can successfully use trade agreements as an instrument to propagate its market power. Although MPE does not directly add to the strategy to become more strategically autonomous, utilizing market power is a powerful instrument and, when executed correctly, could be used for SA. This does not directly become clear from the trade agreement, however. The most important reason is that in the selected timeframe, 2010 to 2020, the (geo)political context was different. The process of negotiating agreements takes time, and in this timeframe, there were fewer threats to supply chains and the global (political) order was rather stable. With the changing political environment, these issues have become more pressing and, likely, will keep gaining importance in the coming years. The following chapter aims to identify whether the SA approach can be more clearly identified in recent trade policy development. This will be done by analysing trade agreements signed after 2020, as well as other relevant documents regarding trade policy.

# 5. Strategic autonomy in (trade) policy since 2020

In an era marked by geopolitical shifts and global uncertainties, the EC aims to become (more) strategic autonomous. As it seeks to strengthen its position as a global actor, trade policy development has become a crucial instrument in realizing these objectives. This chapter aims to analyse the interplay between the ECs SA approach and recent trade policy developments. By examining the key initiatives, agreements, and trade negotiations undertaken by the EC, this chapter aims to answer the last sub-question: *How can the strategic autonomy approach of the European Commission be identified in recent trade policy development?* 

The chapter is divided into two sections. First, trade agreements of which the negotiations were finished since 2020, but are not yet signed or ratified, will be analysed in the same way as in Chapter 4. An overview of these trade agreements can be found in Appendix 3. Secondly, it will focus on specific key initiatives and trade negotiations that are relevant for one of the five strategic areas as defined in Chapter 3.

# **5.1.Trade agreements**

This section will focus on trade agreements that have been finalized since 2020. Based on EC documents, this will include five agreements: the updated agreement with Chile (2022), the comprehensive agreement on investment with China (2020), the updated FTA with Mexico (2020), the FTA with New Zealand (2022) and the trade and cooperation agreement with the UK (2020). It is important to note that none of these agreements have been signed or ratified as of the moment of writing. Therefore, changes may occur in the future and not all official texts may be publicly available.

## 5.1.1. Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems

In the five selected trade agreements, there are close to no sections about resilient health and food systems. The notable exceptions are the agreement with the UK (2020) and Chile (2022), where a fairly generic article about sustainable food systems can be found:

# Article 86

Each Party shall encourage its food safety, animal and plant health services to cooperate with their counterparts in the other Party with the aim of promoting sustainable food production methods and food systems

This article establishes cooperation between the two parties when it comes to food safety and production, but includes no specific obligations or rights. Compared to art. 86 of the UK

agreement, little more can be found in the agreement with Chile (2022). In this agreement, resilient food systems are specifically mentioned:

#### Article 1\*

1. The Parties, recognising the importance of strengthening policies and defining programmes that contribute to the development of sustainable, inclusive, healthy and resilient food systems, agree to establish close cooperation to jointly engage in the transition towards sustainable food systems

\* The number of the article has yet to be defined, it is mentioned as art. 1 in the chapter for the preliminary text of the agreement.

This article aims to increase the resilience of health systems in the EU and Chile by cooperating, but there are no specific obligations. Of all the agreements analysed thus far, this is the only mention of resilient food systems. It is important to note that all the agreements that concluded negotiations since 2020 are not yet fully publicly available and can be adjusted in later stages. The available texts are proposals from the EC and are not legally binding until both parties sign the text. Therefore, there may be sections regarding health- and food systems in later stages. However, it seems clear that in the FTAs this topic is not as important, whereas it is mentioned in the AA, which extends beyond trade only as was mentioned in section 2.1.1.

## 5.1.2. Securing decarbonized and affordable energy

The supply of green energy has been on top of the agenda of the EC since the signing of the Paris agreement in 2015. In Chapter 4, it became clear that the EU is partnering up with neighbouring countries to further diversify and extend its energy production. This paragraph aims to analyse how this is incorporated into trade agreements that are finalized since 2020.

In the agreements with Chile (2022) and Mexico (2020), there are articles about energy pricing. Both articles state:

# Article 5\*

A Party shall not impose a higher price for exports of energy goods or raw materials to the other Party than the price charged for such goods when destined for the domestic market, by means of any measure such as licenses or minimum price requirements

\* The number of the article has yet to be defined, it is mentioned as art. 5 in the chapter for the preliminary text of the agreement.

Albeit defined generally, the EU needs to have access to energy goods and raw materials on a large scale. This article clearly defines the obligation that both parties shall not impose higher prices. As one of the main exporting countries for Lithium, the trade agreement with Chile was considered a milestone. Commissioner Dombrovskis said that: "It also very much reflects our

shared strategic interest in terms of cooperating in areas like clean energy and raw materials, which will be vital for our future economic resilience." Furthermore, the agreement allows Chile to sell lithium and copper at lower prices for EU companies making use of Chilean processing, which directly adds to the strategic flexibility of the EU (Aarup & Moens, 2022).

When it comes to renewable energy, the investment agreement with China has one relevant article:

## Article 6\*

(b)promote and facilitate investment of relevance for climate change mitigation and adaptation; including investment concerning climate friendly goods and services, such as renewable energy, low-carbon technologies and energy efficient products and services, and by adopting policy frameworks conducive to deployment of climate-friendly technologies

\* The number of the article has yet to be defined, it is mentioned as art. 6 in the chapter for the preliminary text of the agreement.

Although it is about promoting investment, thus no specific obligations, it is important that the EU work together with third parties to promote climate-friendly technologies. It is questionable whether this directly adds to SA, but adopting policy frameworks can be considered a form of NPE, whereas the EU will likely be able to anchor parts of its own policies into this framework.

#### 5.1.3. Strengthening capacity in data management, artificial intelligence and cutting-edge technology

The importance of this strategic area is expressed severely, but it is underrepresented in trade agreements. This is most likely because the topic gained importance quickly over the last few years, but was not much of an issue in the timeframe these agreements were negotiated. Although the agreements were finished after 2020, negotiations often started way earlier, for example, the first negotiations with China started in 2013.

As discussed in section 4.3., there are not many relevant publications on this topic. Of the trade agreements that fall within this selection, only two have articles relevant to this area. These are the agreements with New Zealand (2022) and the UK (2020). Both agreements refer solely to the storage and protection of personal data. It is mentioned that:

# Article 6\*

1. Each Party recognises that the protection of personal data and privacy is a fundamental right and that high standards in this regard contribute to trust in the digital economy and to the development of trade.

2. Each Party may adopt and maintain the safeguards it deems appropriate to ensure the protection of personal data and privacy, including through the adoption and application of rules for the cross-border transfer of personal data. Nothing in this agreement shall affect the protection of personal data and privacy afforded by the Parties' respective

#### safeguards

\* The number of the article has yet to be defined, it is mentioned as art. 6 in the chapter for the preliminary text of the agreement.

# **ARTICLE 202**

1. Each Party recognises that individuals have a right to the protection of personal data and privacy and that high standards in this regard contribute to trust in the digital economy and to the development of trade.

2. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent a Party from adopting or maintaining measures on the protection of personal data and privacy, including with respect to crossborder data transfers, provided that the law of the Party provides for instruments enabling transfers under conditions of general application 1 for the protection of the data transferred

Both articles do show that data protection is a fundamental EU right, and both member states and third countries have the obligation to honour these rights. Similarly to the trade agreements concluded between 2010-2020, relevant articles are scarce. Whether this has to do with the timeframe of the negotiations and shifting priorities is difficult to determine, but not unlikely. Additionally, in neither of the agreements is any mention of semiconductors or cutting-edge technologies, which is surprising whereas China is one of the main countries in the semiconductor supply chain.

## 5.1.4. Securing and diversifying supply of critical raw materials

Although this area is considered strategically important, none of the agreements have any articles related to this field, besides the articles mentioned in section 5.1.2. Whereas China is the main supplier of raw materials, the investment agreement with China has no mention of this area (Hijazi & Kennedy, 2021). While this may seem odd, a logical explanation could be that the investment agreement is negotiated in more general terms. In the factsheet concerning this agreement, it is summarized as follows:

The text contains obligations on Market Access, National Treatment and Most-Favoured-Nation Treatment as well as a list of prohibited Performance Requirements (i.e. conditions to investment that the Parties cannot impose, such as local content requirements, technology transfers requirements, or R&D targets. It also contains commitments (not to impose nationality requirements) as regards Senior Management and Board of Directors (Eu-China investment agreement, 2020).

This means that the agreement established a framework for market access and trade liberalization in general, but does not go deeper into the specific areas. It can be argued that this is also a form of MPE, whereas the EU grants market access in exchange for economic reforms and trade rules. Although the trade agreements lack any representation of the supply of CRMs, other initiatives focus on this strategic area. These will be discussed in section 5.2.4.

# 5.1.5. Building a resilient and future-proof economics and financial system

Similar to the previous strategic areas, there is a lack of references regarding this area. The only mention is about trade liberalization in general, both in the China and the UK agreement, but do not pose any obligations. The first states that:

## Article 6\*

Each Party shall allow, with regard to transactions on the capital and financial account of the balance of payments, the free movement of capital2 for the purpose of liberalisation of investment as provided for in Section [Investment Liberalisation] (Eu-China investment agreement, 2020).

\* The number of the article has yet to be defined, it is mentioned as art. 6 in the chapter for the preliminary text of the agreement.

It should be noted that besides being generally formulated, it is also not the final version of this article. Therefore, no conclusions should be drawn based on this. Similarly, the UK agreement states:

# Article 215

1. Each Party shall allow, with regard to transactions on the capital and financial account of the balance of payments, the free movement of capital for the purpose of liberalisation of investment and other transactions as provided for in Title II of this Heading (Trade and cooperation agreement, 2020).

The key factor in this article is trade liberalization, as is intended in trade agreements following the CCP. It is, however, remarkable that the UK agreement has no mention of resilient and future-proof financial systems, as it is one of the world's most developed financial centres (Thomas. 2023). According to a briefing for the UK Parliament

"the rules on financial services in the TCA provide for greater access between the UK and EU in financial services than would have applied under a no-deal scenario. However, access still falls far short of what businesses had as part of the European single market" (Shalchi, 2021).

Although British firms still have access to the EU market, it can be said that European financial institutions have a more favourable position in the EU market. Again, this article does not pose any obligations towards both parties but should be considered merely as a statement.

# 5.2. Key initiatives, policies and measures

Besides trade agreements, the EC has several other methods which it can utilize to pursue SA. This section will look at official (key) initiatives, bilateral agreements, trade negotiations, etcetera to explore how the SA approach can be identified in recent trade policy. It will again focus on the five strategic areas as defined in Chapter 3, although the order will be different for clarity reasons.

# 5.2.1 Securing decarbonized and affordable energy

"Today is the start of a journey. But this is Europe's 'man on the moon' moment. The European Green Deal is very ambitious, but it will also be very careful in assessing the impact and every single step we are taking" (Von der Leyen, 2019). These words by EC President Ursula von der Leyen revealed one of the most comprehensive policy initiatives by the incumbent EC. Whereas this set of policies is complex and includes many other (proposed) initiatives, such as the farm-

to-fork strategy and REPowerEU, and the EU pharmaceutical strategy, the core of the Green Deal is to become the first climate-neutral continent by 2050 (European Commission, 2020a)

The Green Deal at first glance does not look like trade policy or commercial policy, but due to its sheer size and comprehensive policies, there are elements of trade policy found within the initiative. For example, the three key principles for clean energy. The first principle is to "Prioritise energy efficiency and develop a power sector based largely on renewable sources" (Directorate-General for Climate Action, 2023). A power sector based on renewable sources means that the energy has to be generated on the European continent, and thus that the EU is less dependent on third countries for their energy supply. The approach of the European Union (EU) is manifested in its pursuit of economic capacity to effectively implement the Green Deal policy objectives and foster international partnerships with a unified, EU-wide voice. This SA approach aims to ensure that the EU can independently shape its economic and trade policies, reducing dependency on external actors and asserting its position as a global player (Wirthwein Vega, 2022). This approach also covers the second and third principles, secure and affordable EU energy supply and a fully integrated, interconnected and digitalized EU energy market.

Another essential measure where SA is persuaded is REPowerEU. This policy was proposed after the Russian invasion of Ukraine in 2022 and aims to decrease the EUs dependence on Russian fossil fuels (European Commission, 2022c). Although this is not pure trade policy, several elements in the policy can be defined (partly) as trade policy. For example, diversifying the energy supply includes establishing agreements with other third countries for pipeline imports and investing in the common purchase of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG), which requires cooperation with third countries in the form of market access, trade liberalization and reducing trade barriers (European Commission, 2022c).

The third set of policy measures that were introduced to become more strategically autonomous, is the proposed net-zero industry act (NZIA). Whereas this set of policies builds upon measures laid out in the Green Deal, its objectives are more specific. In the official proposal, it was stated that:

The proposed measures will also contribute to the EU's resilience and open strategic autonomy by ensuring the security of supply of key energy-related technologies, which is crucial both for supporting the development of other sectors of the economy and for public order and security (European Commission, 2023d, p. 3).

This is a clear example of how the concept of strategic autonomy is incorporated into EU policies. Although the NZIA is not pure trade policy, there are measures and initiatives in the set of policies that can be defined as trade policy. At the moment of writing, the NZIA is currently merely a proposal to implement regulations and policies in the future, but it does include instruments such as the InvestEU programme and the Innovation Fund. It cannot be determined yet how effective this is or what other instruments will be implemented under this proposal.

# 5.2.2 Ensuring sustainable and resilient health and food systems

The focus on building resilient health and food systems has gained prominence, especially since the COVID-19 pandemic. This paragraph offers an analysis of recent trade (related) policy developments in this strategic area. By examining key initiatives and bilateral agreements, it aims to unravel the interplay between trade policies and the pursuit of sustainable and resilient health and food systems.

The first initiative in this area where the EC demonstrated the necessity for more autonomy, is "A pharmaceutical strategy for Europe," adopted on November 25, 2020, and updated on April 26, 2023 (European Commission, 2020d; European Commission, 2023e). This initiative aims to achieve the following objectives:

- Make sure all patients across the EU have timely and equitable access to safe, effective, and affordable medicines
- Enhance the security of supply and ensure medicines are available to patients, regardless of where they live in the EU
- Continue to offer an attractive and innovation-friendly environment for research, development, and production of medicines in Europe
- Make medicines more environmentally sustainable
- Address antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and the presence of pharmaceuticals in the environment through a One Health approach.

With the EU being highly dependent on third countries for the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs), 80% of the imported API volume comes from five countries, where China accounts for 45% of the volume. The EC aims to gain a better understanding of the supply chain vulnerabilities and to take measures to strengthen supply chain resilience in the EU (European Commission, 2021a). In the pharmaceutical strategy for Europe, there are specific 'flagship initiatives on open strategic autonomy.' These initiatives provide a basis for future policy, which

theoretically could be implemented in future trade agreements. For example, one of the initiatives states to:

Follow up on the European Council request for open strategic autonomy and launch a structured dialogue with and between the actors in the pharmaceuticals manufacturing value chain and public authorities to identify vulnerabilities in the global supply chain of critical medicines, raw pharmaceutical materials, intermediates and active pharmaceutical substances in order to formulate policy (European Commission, 2020e, p. 18).

Such initiatives are not only important due to the basis for future policy they provide but also show that the EC is working on implementing SA in their policies. More specifically, the report notes that:

Building up EU's open strategic autonomy in the area of medicines requires actions to identify strategic dependencies in health, and to propose measures to reduce them, possibly including by diversifying production and supply chains, ensuring strategic stockpiling, as well as fostering production and investment in Europe.

This paragraph paves the road for future negotiations with third countries, whether it will be a trade agreement or other bilateral agreement, to make clear agreements about this strategic area.

For resilient food systems, a similar initiative was launched in 2020, called the 'Farm-to-Fork strategy. This initiative includes a proposal for a framework for sustainable food systems, as well as plans for ensuring food supply and security. This is, for example, clearly captured in the following initiative:

preserving the affordability of food, while generating fairer economic returns in the supply chain, so that ultimately the most sustainable food also becomes the most affordable, fostering the competitiveness of the EU supply sector, promoting fair trade, creating new business opportunities, while ensuring integrity of the single market and occupational health and safety (European Commission, 2020c, p. 4).

According to the EC, the role of the EU is mostly a normative one. They say that "the EU can play a key role in setting global standards with this strategy," which reaffirms that SA is high on the EC's agenda, but execution is different than other policies (European Commission, 2020c, p. 4). Although the farm-to-fork strategy mostly focuses on expanding and increasing the food systems in the EU, it will also affect third countries that rely on either EU exports or EU market access. Whereas this initiative in itself is important, it is part of the aforementioned comprehensive European Green Deal. Because the Green Deal and the other initiatives that fall under the Green Deal are drawn up since 2020, most of them consist solely of proposals and initiatives. Because the proposals have to be worked out before they can become legislation or policy, it will take time to process all these initiatives. It is therefore difficult to determine whether the initiatives are successful and will lead to the intended results.

#### 5.2.3. Strengthening capacity in data management, artificial intelligence and cutting-edge technology

Whereas this strategic area was underrepresented in trade agreements, there have been other initiatives to become more strategically autonomous in this sector. This paragraph will discuss two key policies: the policies from the "Europe fit for the digital age" initiative and the EU chips act.

The "Europe fit for the digital age" initiative is a set of policies that aim to make the digital transformation work for people and businesses, while also achieving the Green Deal target of climate neutrality in 2050. It includes legislation, such as the harmonised EU patent rules, regulation, for example, the data act and the digital services act, as well as non-binding communication, such as the communication on an EU cyber defence policy. At first glance, it seems like a text-book example of NPE, whereas the EC is determined to: "make this Europe's "Digital Decade". Europe must now strengthen its digital sovereignty and set standards, rather than following those of others – with a clear focus on data, technology, and infrastructure" (European Commission, 2020b). This set of policies includes initiatives to become more autonomous in the digital domain.

The first policy that entails more SA is the Cybersecurity Strategy. This "aims to build resilience to cyber threats and ensure citizens and businesses benefit from trustworthy digital technologies" (European Commission, 2023f). The strategy includes directives such as NIS 2 and the Critical Entities Resilience directive, which both have to be implemented by member states in October 2024. Furthermore, it specifically describes how the EU can become more technologically sovereign and is part of the European Council Strategic Agenda 2019-2024. Whereas this is again not purely trade policy, the initiatives will be incorporated into future trade policy and shape the way how agreements are drawn u in the future. An example of this is that the EU pursues leadership in cutting-edge technologies such as 6G and cloud computing. Knowing that it needs third countries for the supply of certain materials or components, the cybersecurity act ensures that "public sector intervention should rely on the tools provided by the EU public procurement regulatory framework [...]," a framework that is included in most trade agreements. In this way, the EU expresses its normative power and still builds on its own

goal of SA (European Commission, 2023g, p. 11). Similarly, the proposed European Data Act aims to make the EU a leader in the data-driven society. Although not pure trade policy, such initiatives will likely affect future trade policy and trade agreements. It should be noted that the initiative has not been adopted as of now and thus has no measurable effects thus far.

Another initiative that is more trade policy focused is the European Chips Act. It was announced as an initiative to "bolster Europe's competitiveness and resilience in semiconductor technologies and applications, and help achieve both the digital and green transition. It will do this by strengthening Europe's technological leadership in the field." Specific trade policy-related proposals include state aid exemption, an investor-friendly framework to increase European manufacturing and building international partnerships with like-minded countries (European Commission, 2022b). The European Chips Act was adopted by the Parliament and the member states in 2023, paving the way for formal adoption (Bertuzzi, 2023).

The state aid exemption is a clear example of how trade policy is involved in the chips act. In the legal documents, it is laid out as:

The Regulation provides for a procedural framework to facilitate combined funding from Member States, investment without prejudice with State aid rules, the Union budget and private investment. This will take the form of a new instrument with legal personality, the European Chips Infrastructure Consortium ('ECIC'), which can be used by legal entities to structure their collaborative work within a consortium, on a voluntary basis. In addition, Section 1 sets up a mechanism for establishing a European network of Competence Centres for the purpose of implementing actions on competence centres and skills under the Chips for Europe Initiative (European Commission, 2022c, p. 17).

In other words, it is allowed for member states and the EU to grant state aid if it adds to the ultimate objectives as laid out in this act. As of June 2023, state aid was allowed for the building of new factories in France by US chipmaker GlobalFoundries (Yun Chee, 2023). This example shows that initiatives such as the chips act can change the way trade policy is developing because of the SA aims of the EC.

Lastly, it is notable that the EU has been updating existing trade agreements with digital partnerships. The EU has signed digital partnerships with Japan, Singapore and South Korea, deepening their cooperation in the digital domain (European Commission, 2023a). About the Singapore partnership, Trade Commissioner Dombrovskis said that "[...] our new Digital Partnership will facilitate reciprocal trade and e-commerce, a vital sector of our economies.

These Principles will help to pave the way towards further engagement on digital trade, including at the WTO level" showing that trade policy is evolving around the new era, even when there is already a trade agreement in place (Dombrovskis, 2023).

#### 5.2.4. Securing and diversifying supply of critical raw materials

The ECs proposal for the Critical Raw Materials Act has triggered significant changes in trade policy. The regulation to establish a framework ensuring a secure and sustainable supply of critical materials was proposed on March 16, 2023, and awaits further discussion. The initiative aims to address the EUs vulnerability to supply disruptions of critical raw materials, which are essential for various industries such as technology, energy, and automotive sectors. By identifying and designating specific raw materials as critical, the EU seeks to enhance its security of supply and reduce dependence on external sources. The legal documents contain a paragraph where it states that:

In terms of international instruments, this proposal is consistent with:

the EU's international trade obligations and the EU common commercial policy. The Communication attached to this regulation includes measures to strengthen and diversify the EU's external supply of CRMs from international sources without undermining trade rules and international competition (European Commission, 2023c, p. 5).

This paragraph is important because it specifically mentions that the policy is consistent with the common commercial policy. The initiative ultimately aims to diversify supply chains and ensure supply in Europe, it does so by aiming for:

- At least 10% of the EU's annual consumption for extraction,
- At least 40% of the EU's annual consumption for processing,
- At least 15% of the EU's annual consumption for recycling,
- Not more than 65% of the Union's annual consumption of each strategic raw material at any relevant stage of processing from a single third country (European Commission, 2023c).

For this research, especially the latter initiative is important. This is mainly because trade agreements can help with diversifying the supply of CRMs. To ensure diversification, the EU has signed bilateral partnerships with third countries aiming to ensure the supply of CRMs. It has done so with Canada, Ukraine, Namibia and Kazakhstan (European Commission, 2021b;

European Commission, 2021c; European Commission, 2022d; European Commission, 2022e). These agreements are all part of the new trade strategy as proposed by the EC, the Open, Sustainable and Assertive Trade Policy (OSA), which aims to establish a new consensus for trade policy based on openness, sustainability and "assertiveness. It reinforces the EU's position as a global champion of open, rules-based trade that is fair and sustainable" (European Commission, 2021; Eliasson & Garcia-Duran, 2023).

These strategic partnerships are an important part of the updated OSA policy in which the focus is more on becoming more resilient and autonomous. Bilateral strategic partnerships are more flexible and specific than trade agreements, and thus help to focus on one specific strategic area. It is interesting to note, similar to the digital strategic partnerships, that all are with countries that already have a trade agreement in place.

#### 5.2.5. Building a resilient and future-proof economics and financial system

The last strategic area is more difficult to address in recent trade policy. There have been many initiatives to further strengthen the European financial system, but most of them consist of legislation instead of trade policy. Furthermore, it seems that this strategic area mostly contains policy that supports other initiatives. Financial policy generally does not overlap with trade policy. Two of the initiatives that support the aim of SA as well as support recent trade policy developments are the banking union and capital markets union. Both initiatives were implemented before 2020 and therefore do not represent the SA views of the EC.

## 5.3. Preliminary conclusion

This chapter has aimed to answer the last sub-question: *How can the strategic autonomy approach of the European Commission be identified in recent trade policy development?* The analysis has shown that trade agreements finished after 2020 had no specific mention of SA, similar to the trade agreements signed between 2010 and 2020. Most likely, this is due to negotiations all taking place during the same period. During this period, there was no need to think or talk about SA. This changed when the Von der Leyen Commission took office in 2019. Several events after their inauguration required a policy change within the EC.

The change of view becomes clear in the official policies published since 2020. There are several examples of initiatives, policies and acts where the SA approach is visible. The five strategic areas as determined in the *2021 Strategic Foresight Report* can all be linked to certain policies with one overarching key initiative: the European Green Deal. This comprehensive set of initiatives has an ultimate goal for Europe to become the first carbon-neutral continent in

2050, but it includes more than 50 other policy proposals in different areas. Some proposals that fall under the umbrella of the Green Deal are a new European Industrial Strategy, of which the Action Plan on Raw Materials and the EU pharmaceutical strategy were part. Both initiatives have strong SA aspects and aim for the EU to become more independent when it comes to the supply and production of respectively CRMs and APIs. In 2022, the REPowerEU plan was published after the Russian invasion of Ukraine. This policy aimed to become less dependent on Russian energy by increasing the share of renewable energy produced in Europe, again, with the aim to become more SA.

Finally, the *New Industrial Strategy for Europe* recommended the EC secured more critical supplies with the help of Strategic Partnership Agreements. Different from trade agreements, strategic partnership agreements focus on a specific (strategic) area, for example, raw materials. This enables the EC to be more flexible in partnering with third countries, as well as quickly adapt to changing circumstances. In conclusion, it can be said that with the appointment of the Von der Leyen Commission in 2019, the SA approach became visible in official EU policy. Mostly by key initiatives that cover vast amounts of policy and in this way change (future) trade policy. These policies are likely to be negotiated within future trade agreements to ensure the EU reaches its objectives.

## 6. Conclusion and discussion

The research conducted for this master thesis has aimed to answer the question: *To what extent can EU trade agreements be an instrument to attain the strategic autonomy goals set out by the European Commission*? The analysis has shown that trade agreements can – to some extent – be used as an instrument to pursue the SA goals from the EC, although it is not the most effective instrument. By first exploring whether there is coherence between institutional and academic definitions of the SA concept, it becomes clear that many different definitions exist, albeit with a similar tendency. The academic debate focuses more on security and defence policy, as this is the area where the concept originated from. The academic debate evolved to incorporate more policy areas, in line with the developments of EU policy.

The institutional definition is primarily shaped by the Von der Leyen Commission from 2020 onwards. Where the concept derives from purely defensive capabilities, the EC broadened the concept and in 2020 defined it as "Europe's strategic autonomy is about reducing dependence on others for things we need the most: critical materials and technologies, food, infrastructure, security and other strategic areas" (European Commission, 2020). However, there is less

understanding when it comes to reducing dependence in the area of security. The EU is largely dependent on the US for military capabilities, albeit via NATO, which means there can be no autonomous decision-making in this domain. Neither is there coherence among member states whether this dependency should change in the future. This shows that the understanding of the concept is ever-evolving and ambiguous, resulting in no clear definition. For a concept for this research, a definition that emphasizes the importance of reducing dependency but allowing collaboration was chosen: "the capacity of the EU to act autonomously – that is, without being dependent on other countries – in strategically important policy areas."

Chapter 4, addressing the third sub-question, aims to answer the question of whether European institutions have incorporated their SA objectives into trade agreements that were signed between 2010 and 2020. The analysis revealed that these interests were not represented in trade agreements. Although several articles touched upon the strategic areas as defined in chapter 3, there is a lack of specific directions or obligations for both parties. It becomes clear that trade agreements are drawn up in a bilateral or multilateral way, thus benefiting both parties evenly.

Chapter 5 therefore analysed whether trade agreements concluded after 2020 and other trade policies changed the SA interests of EU institutions. Contrary to trade agreements, policies and measures adopted since 2020 show a clear increase in the SA approach, with the European Green Deal at the centre. This set of initiatives aims for Europe to become the first climate-neutral continent by 2050, and is so comprehensive that all five strategic areas as identified in chapter 3 and discussed in chapter 5, are covered under this initiative. There has been a shift to the EU focusing more on critical supply chains, reshoring and protectionism and thus being able to rely less on third parties. This is seen in initiatives such as the chips act, the raw materials act and the REPowerEU plan. Simultaneously, the EU has signed strategic partnership agreements with third countries to account for a steady supply, as the analysis in chapter 5 revealed. A good example is the strategic partnership agreement with Singapore, touching upon digital transformation and cutting-edge technologies. At first glance, this approach seems to be successful, but since the agreements are recently signed, future research will have to assess whether this can be empirically proven.

When looking at the SA definition, it is questionable whether it is a realistic objective for the EU to act without being dependent on other countries. The main question that arises in the debate is whether the EU can become truly autonomous. The general tendency is that – according to the literal definition of autonomy – this is not possible. The EU will always be, to some extent, dependent on third countries for resources and will therefore rely on third countries

in their decision-making. The analysis in chapter 4 showed that the EU depends on China for 60% of its CRM supply and that in 2020 57,5% of the available energy in the EU was imported from outside the EU. This confirms that in practice it is not possible to become fully autonomous in all strategic areas as they are defined in chapter 3.

Whereas all trade agreements aim to strengthen trade by reducing tariffs, quotas, gaining market access etcetera, it can be concluded that the EU institutions did not represent their SA interests in the trade agreements. The absence of SA interests can be linked to the timeframe in which the agreements are negotiated. When looking at existing literature, the debate has evolved from SA in a pure, military context to a more ambiguous and broad concept. This is shown by Hoffmeister (2023), who divided the debate into three waves: the foreign policy wave (2013-2016), the economic policy wave (2016-2021), and the combined foreign and economic policy wave (2022-). It can be argued that these three waves overlap with the international relations theories that describe what power the EU is.

The first wave, the foreign policy wave, started in 2013. This wave shows an overlap with the NPE theory of Manners (2002). During the period of the first foreign policy wave, the EU signed AAs with several former Soviet countries such as Georgia (2014), Moldova (2014), Ukraine (2014), Kazakhstan (2015) and Armenia (2017). As shown in the analysis in chapter 4, the AAs extend beyond trade and aim to incorporate the third countries more into the EU's political and economic system. This shows that the EU, during this timeframe, invested in normative power.

The second wave extends from 2016 to 2021 and is described by Hoffmeister (2023) as the economic policy wave. With the election of US President Donald Trump and the Brexit referendum in 2016, the EU focused heavily on utilizing its market power to strengthen its economy. This overlaps with the MPE theory of Damro (2012). Of the 25 trade agreements signed or concluded since 2010, eleven are signed during the economic policy wave. Since the inauguration of the Von der Leyen Commission in 2019, trade policy has evolved more rapidly, also including stricter regulations for foreign investment. However, the EC had to adapt to current events. This adaption is shown in the last wave, the combined foreign and economic policy wave, starting in 2022 (Hoffmeister, 2023). The Von der Leyen Commission, positioning itself as 'a Geopolitical Commission,' faced crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian invasion of Ukraine. This overlaps with the CPE theory, which looks beyond NPE and MPE to see where Europe needs to go to become a more capable actor (Laffan, 2023). This is seen under the Von der Leyen Commission, where the three main aspects of CPE can be

identified. Leadership and framing have played a role in both the pandemic as well as the Ukraine war. The EC identified the path they thought was best, mobilizing institutional capacity and innovating the policy toolkit.

In conclusion, it seems that trade agreements have not been the right instrument to attain more SA. The goals set out by the EC are clear, but can better be persuaded by implementing specific key initiatives, such as the Green Deal. Trade agreements aim to benefit both parties equally and take years to negotiate, and thus are not flexible enough to keep up with international developments. Furthermore, multilateral agreements prevent one-sided changes, making it an instrument that helps promote norms and values, but less to attain more SA. Taking into account the quickly changing political environment, the EC should pursue different instruments to reach their SA objectives. Policies and measures such as the Green Deal can adapt more quickly and leave room for necessary change when required while focusing on specific areas. It is possible to incorporate similar policies into trade agreements in the future, but on short notice, the EU should focus on key initiatives to increase SA and use trade agreements as intended: to liberalize trade.

# 7. References

- Aarup, S. A., & Moens, B. (2022, December 9). EU ties trade bow with Chile to carmakers' delight. *POLITICO*. <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-trade-deal-chile-</u> <u>carmaker-delight-lithium/</u>
- Adriaensen, J. (2020). The Common Commercial Policy. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Politics. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228637.013.1098
- Aghion, P., Antras, P., & Helpman, E. (2007). Negotiating free trade. *Journal of International Economics*, 73(1), 1–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinteco.2006.12.003</u>
- Allen, D. T., & Smith, M. S. (1990). Western Europe's presence in the contemporary international arena. *Review of International Studies*, 16(1), 19–37. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0260210500112628
- Anghel, S., Immenkamp, B., Lazarou, E., Saulnier, J. L., & Wilson, A. B. (2020). On the path to "strategic autonomy" (PE 652.096). EPRS | European Parliamentary Research Service.

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2020/652096/EPRS\_STU(202 0)652096\_EN.pdf

- Association Agreement and Additional Protocol European Union Chile. (2020). European Commission.
- Association Agreement European Union Central America. 2012 OJ (L 346), p. 3–2621. European Commission. <u>https://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2012/734/oj</u>
- Association Agreement European Union Georgia. 2014 OJ (L 261), p. 4-743. European Commission. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2014/494/oj</u>
- Association Agreement European Union Moldova. 2014 OJ (L 260), p. 4-738. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2014/492/oj
- Babic, M., D. Dixon, A., & T. Liu, I. (2022). Geoeconomics in a Changing Global Order. In

M. Babic, A. D. Dixon, & I. T. Liu (Eds.), The Political Economy of Geoeconomics:

Europe in a Changing World (pp. 1–27). Palgrave Macmillan.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-01968-5\_1

- Bach, D. S., & Newman, A. L. (2007). The European regulatory state and global public policy: micro-institutions, macro-influence. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *14*(6), 827–846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13501760701497659</u>
- Bargués, P. (2021). From 'Resilience' to strategic autonomy: A shift in the implementation of the global strategy? EU-LISTC.
  <u>https://www.cidob.org/en/publications/publication\_series/project\_papers/eu\_listco/fromresilience\_to\_strategic\_autonomy\_a\_shift\_in\_the\_implementation\_of\_the\_global\_s\_trategy</u>
- Barnes, J. E., & Cooper, H. (2021, October 18). Trump discussed pulling U.S. from NATO, aides say amid new concerns over Russia. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/14/us/politics/nato-president-trump.html
- Berriault, L. (2022, March 30). *Transatlantic relations after the Ukraine war*. Geopolitical Intelligence Services. <u>https://www.gisreportsonline.com/r/ukraine-transatlantic-relations/</u>
- Bertuzzi, L. (2023, May 19). EU institutions reach agreement on European Chips Act. www.euractiv.com. https://www.euractiv.com/section/industrial-strategy/news/euinstitutions-reach-agreement-on-european-chips-act/
- Besch, S. (2016). *EU defence, Brexit and Trump: The Good, the Bad and the Ugly*. Centre for European Reform. <u>https://www.cer.eu/sites/default/files/pb\_defence\_14dec16.pdf</u>

Besch, S., & Scazzieri, L. (2020). European strategic autonomy and a new transatlantic bargain. Centre for European Reform.

https://www.cer.eu/sites/default/files/pbrief\_strategic\_autonomy\_11.12.20\_4.pdf

- Bjerkem, J. (2020). Fostering Europe's Strategic Autonomy: A new Agenda for Trade and Investment. European Policy Centre. <u>https://www.epc.eu/en/publications/Fostering-</u> Europes-Strategic-Autonomy--A-new-Agenda-for-Trade-and-Inv~357f50
- Blengini, G., El Latunussa, C., Eynard, U., Torres De Matos, C., Wittmer, D., Georgitzikis,
  K., Pavel, C., Carrara, S., Mancini, L., Unguru, M., Blagoeva, D., Mathieux, F., &
  Pennington, D. (2020). *Study on the EU's list of critical raw materials*(10.2873/11619). Publications Office of the European Union.
  <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/344124852\_Study\_on\_the\_EU%27s\_list\_of</u>
  <u>Critical Raw Materials 2020 Final Report</u>
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.3316/qrj0902027</u>
- Breton, T. (2022). Closing session by Commissioner Thierry Breton at EIT Raw Materials Summit 2022: 'What next? Ideas and actions on how to secure raw materials for Europe'. the Raw Materials Summit 2022, Berlin, Germany.

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/SPEECH\_22\_3394

- Brudzinska, K., Kudzko, A., & Wisniewski, J. (2021). *The EU strategic autonomy: Central and Eastern European perspectives*. The GLOBSEC Policy Institut. <u>https://www.globsec.org/what-we-do/publications/eu-strategic-autonomy-central-and-eastern-european-perspectives</u>
- Castro Ribeiro, G. (2023). *Geoeconomic awakening: The European Union's trade and investment policy shift toward open strategic autonomy*. College of Europe.
- Comprehensive and Enhanced Partnership Agreement European Union Armenia. 2017 OJ (L 23), p. 4-466. European Commission.

http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2018/104/oj

Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) European Union – Canada. 2017 OJ (L 11), p. 23-1079. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu./eli/agree\_internation/2017/37/oj

- Continental Europe successful synchronisation with Ukraine and Moldova power systems. (2022, March 16). <u>https://www.entsoe.eu/news/2022/03/16/continental-europe-</u> successful-synchronisation-with-ukraine-and-moldova-power-systems/
- CRM Alliance. (n.d.). *Critical Raw Materials*. Retrieved April 12, 2023, from https://www.crmalliance.eu/critical-raw-materials
- Damen, D. (2022). EU strategic autonomy 2013-2023 (PE 733.58). EPRS |

European Parliamentary Research Service.

https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document/EPRS\_BRI(2022)733589

- Damro, C. (2012). Market power Europe. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *19*(5), 682–699. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2011.646779
- Damro, C. (2015). Market power Europe: Exploring a dynamic conceptual framework. Journal of European Public Policy, 22(9), 1336–1354. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2015.1046903
- Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Agreement European Union Ukraine. 2014 OJ (L 161), p. 3-2137. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2014/295/oj
- Dempsey, J. (2018, November 20). Judy asks: Is Macron isolated in Europe? https://carnegieeurope.eu. https://carnegieeurope.eu/strategiceurope/77769
- Deutsch, J., Furlong, A., Von Der Burchard, H., & Martuscelli, C. (2021, January 12). Thanks to deep pockets, Germany snaps up extra coronavirus jabs. *POLITICO*. <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/germany-buys-extra-coronavirus-vaccine-doses-fromeu-countries/</u>
- Deutsche Welle. (2007, October 2). Crashed before liftoff? dw.com.

https://www.dw.com/en/berlin-wants-bigger-share-of-galileo-for-german-

companies/a-2805141

Directorate-General for Climate Action. (n.d.). Priority topics. European Climate Pact.

Retrieved June 21, 2023, from https://climate-pact.europa.eu/about/priority-topics\_en

Dombrovskis, V. (2023, February 1). EU and Singapore launch Digital Partnership.

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_23\_467

- Drezner, D. W. (2008). All politics is global: Explaining International Regulatory Regimes. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400828630
- *Economic Partnership Agreement European Union Pacific region*. 2012 OJ (L 272), p. 2-715. European Commission.

http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2009/729/oj

Economic Partnership Agreement European Union – SADC EPA States. 2016 OJ (L 250), p. 3-2130. European Commission.

http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2016/1623/oj

*Economic Partnership Agreement European Union - South Korea*. 2011 OJ (L127), p. 6-1343. European Commission.

http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2011/265/oj

EEAS. (2016). Shared vision, common action: A stronger Europe: A global strategy for the

European Union's foreign and security policy. European External Action Service.

https://www.eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/eugs\_review\_web\_0.pdf

Eliasson, J., & Garcia-Duran, P. (2023). New is old? The EU's Open, Sustainable and

Assertive Trade Policy. Global Policy. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.13183

Enhanced Partnership and Cooperation Agreement European Union - Kazakhstan. 2015 OJ (L 29), p. 3-150. European Commission.

http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2016/123/oj

ENTSO-E. (2015). ENTSO-E at a glance. ENTSO-E: European Network of Transmission

System Operators for Electricity. https://eepublicdownloads.entsoe.eu/clean-

documents/Publications/ENTSO-

E%20general%20publications/entsoe\_at\_a\_glance\_2015\_web.pdf

Erixon, F., Guinea, O., Van der Marel, E., & Lamprecht, P. (2022). The benefits of intellectual property rights in EU free trade agreements. European Centre for International Political Economy. <u>https://ecipe.org/publications/iprs-in-eu-ftas/</u>

EU-China investment agreement. (2020). European Commission.

EU-Mexico Economic Partnership. (2020). European Commission.

European Commission. (2005). The trade and development aspects of EPA negotiations.

European Commission. (2018). Comprehensive and enhanced partnership agreement between the European Union and the European Atomic Energy Community and their member states, of the one part, and the Republic of Armenia, of the other part (22018A0126(01)). Official Journal of the European Union.

https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:22018A0126(01)

European Commission. (2020). A New Industrial Strategy for Europe (COM/2020/102 final). https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?qid=1593086905382&uri=CELEX%3A52020DC0102

European Commission. (2020a, January 14). *Financing the green transition: The European Green Deal Investment Plan and Just Transition Mechanism* [Press release].

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_20\_17

- European Commission. (2020b, February 19). *A Europe fit for the digital age*. <u>https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age\_en</u>
- European Commission. (2020c). A Farm to Fork Strategy for a fair, healthy and environmentally-friendly food system (COM(2020) 381 final).

https://food.ec.europa.eu/horizontal-topics/farm-fork-strategy\_en

European Commission. (2020d, November 25). *Affordable, accessible and safe medicines for all: the Commission presents a pharmaceutical strategy for Europe* [Press release]. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_20\_2173 European Commission. (2020e). *Pharmaceutical Strategy for Europe* ({SWD(2020) 286 final}). https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0761

European Commission. (2021, February 18). Commission sets course for an open, sustainable and assertive EU trade policy [Press release].

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_21\_644

- European Commission. (2021a). *Strategic dependencies and capacities* (SWD(2021) 352 final). <u>https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age/european-industrial-strategy/depth-reviews-strategic-areas-europes-interests\_en#documents</u>
- European Commission. (2021b, June 21). *EU and Canada set up a strategic partnership on raw materials* [Press release]. <u>https://single-market-economy.ec.europa.eu/news/eu-</u> and-canada-set-strategic-partnership-raw-materials-2021-06-21\_en
- European Commission. (2021c, July 13). *EU and Ukraine kick-start strategic partnership on raw materials* [Press release]. <u>https://single-market-economy.ec.europa.eu/news/eu-</u> <u>and-ukraine-kick-start-strategic-partnership-raw-materials-2021-07-13\_en</u>
- European Commission. (2021d). 2021 Strategic Foresight Report (COM(2021) 750 final). https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/strategic-planning/strategicforesight/2021-strategic-foresight-report\_en
- European Commission. (2022, December 1). *Protecting EU creations, inventions and designs*. <u>https://policy.trade.ec.europa.eu/enforcement-and-protection/protecting-eu-creations-inventions-and-designs\_en</u>
- European Commission. (2022a). *European Chips Act*. <u>https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fit-digital-age/european-chips-act\_en</u>
European Commission. (2022b). Chips Act (COM(2022) 46 final).

https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-2024/europe-fitdigital-age/european-chips-act\_en

European Commission. (2022c). REPowerEU Plan ({SWD(2022) 230 final}).

https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2022%3A230%3AFIN&qid=1653033742483

European Commission. (2022d, November 8). Partnership on sustainable raw materials value chains and renewable hydrogen between the EU and Namibia [Press release]. https://single-market-economy.ec.europa/news/partnership-sustainable-raw-materialsvalue-chains-and-renewable-hydrogen-between-eu-and-namibia-2022-11-08\_en

European Commission. (2022e, November 8). Strategic Partnership between the European Union and Kazakhstan on sustainable raw materials, batteries and renewable

hydrogen value chains [Press release]. https://single-market-

economy.ec.europa.eu/news/strategic-partnership-between-european-union-and-

kazakhstan-sustainable-raw-materials-batteries-and-2022-11-08\_en

European Commission. (2023, April 5). *EU to invest €180 million in cutting-edge digital technologies and research* [Press release].

https://digital.strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/activities/digital-technologies-and-research

European Commission. (2023a, February 1). *EU and Singapore launch Digital Partnership* [Press release]. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_23\_467

European Commission. (2023b, March 7). *Making trade policy*. Trade. <u>https://policy.trade.ec.europa.eu/eu-trade-relationships-country-and-region/making-trade-policy\_en</u>

European Commission. (2023c). *establishing a framework for ensuring a secure and sustainable supply of critical raw materials and amending Regulations* (COM(2023) 160 final). https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52023PC0160

European Commission. (2023d). (Net Zero Industry Act (2023/0081 (COD)).

https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52023PC0161

European Commission. (2023e, April 26). *European Health Union: Commission proposes* pharmaceuticals reform for more accessible, affordable and innovative medicines [Press release]. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP\_23\_1843

European Commission. (2023f, May 25). *The Cybersecurity Strategy*. Shaping Europe's Digital Future. <u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/cybersecurity-strategy</u>

European Commission. (n.d.). *Bilateral and multilateral trade agreements*. Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs. Retrieved April 5, 2023, from

https://single.market.economy.ec.europa.eu/sectors/food-and-drink-industry/trade-

 $processed-agricultural-products/bilateral-and-multilateral-trade-agreements\_en$ 

European Council. (2020). A roadmap for recovery.

https://www.consilium.europa.eu/media/43384/roadmap-for-recovery-final-21-04-

<u>2020.pdf</u>

European Council. (2021, October 20). *EU trade agreements*. EU Trade Policy. Retrieved March 13, 2023, from <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/policies/trade-policy/trade-agreements/</u>

European External Action Service [EEAS]. (2016a). Shared vision, common action: A stronger Europe: A global strategy for the European Union's foreign and security policy (No. 14392/16). European External Action Service.

https://www.eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/eugs\_review\_web\_0.pdf

European External Action Service [EEAS]. (2016b, November 16). *Critically assess and analyse the notion that the EU is a Normative Power*. <u>https://www.eeas.europa.eu/node/15687\_en</u>

European External Action Service [EEAS]. (n.d.). *European Neighbourhood Policy / EEAS*. Retrieved June 16, 2023, from <u>https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/european-</u> neighbourhood-policy\_en

European Parliament. (2020). *Resolution of 15 January 2020 on the implementation of the common security and defence policy* (No. 52020IP0009).

https://eur.lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52020IP0009&qid=1677665677661

- European Space Agency. (2010, April 12). *What is Galileo?* Retrieved February 22, 2023, from <a href="https://www.esa.int/Applications/Navigation/Galileo/What\_is\_Galileo">https://www.esa.int/Applications/Navigation/Galileo/What\_is\_Galileo</a>
- European Space Agency. (2016, December 15). Galileo begins serving the globe. *ESA*. https://www.esa.int/Applications/Navigation/Galileo\_begins\_serving\_the\_globe
- Eurostat. (2021). Share of European Union EU27 (from 2020) in the world trade. <u>https://european.union.europa.eu/principles-countries-history/key-facts-and-figures/economy\_en</u>
- Eurostat. (2023, May 30). *Energy production and imports*. Retrieved June 2, 2023, from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-</u>

explained/index.php?title=Energy\_production\_and\_imports

Fitch, A., & Ip, G. (2023, January 14). Chips Are the New Oil and America Is Spending Billions to Safeguard Its Supply. WSJ. <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/chips-</u> <u>semiconductors-manufacturing-china-taiwan-11673650917</u> Franke, U., & Varma, T. (2019). Independence play: Europe's pursuit of strategic autonomy. The European Council on Foreign Relations. <u>https://ecfr.eu/wp-</u>

content/uploads/Independence-play-Europes-pursuit-of-strategic-autonomy.pdf

Free Trade Agreement European Union - New Zeland. (2022). European Commission.

- *Free Trade Agreement European Union Singapore*. 2018 OJ (L 294), p. 3-755. European Commission. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2019/1875/oj</u>
- *Free Trade Agreement European Union Vietnam.* 2019 OJ (L 186), p. 3-1400. European Commission. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2020/753/oj</u>
- Gehrke, T. (2022). EU Open Strategic Autonomy and the Trappings of Geoeconomics. *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 27(Special Issue), 61–78.

https://doi.org/10.54648/eerr2022012

- *Global agreement European Union Japan.* 2018 OJ (L 330), p. 3-899. European Commission. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2018/1907/oj</u>
- Grevi, G. (2019). *Strategic autonomy for European choices: The key to Europe's shaping power*. European Policy Centr.

https://www.epc.eu/content/PDF/2019/190719\_Strategicautonomy\_GG.pdf

- Harrison, J., Barbu, M., Campling, L., Ebert, F. C., Martens, D., Marx, A., Orbie, J.,
  Richardson, B., & Smith, A. (2019). Labour Standards Provisions in EU Free Trade
  Agreements: Reflections on the European Commission's Reform Agenda. *World Trade Review*, 18(4), 635–657. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1474745618000204</u>
- Hijazi, J., & Kennedy, J. (2021, April 23). How the United States Handed China Its Rare-Earth Monopoly. *Foreign Policy*. <u>https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/10/27/how-the-</u> <u>united-states-handed-china-its-rare-earth-monopoly/</u>
- Hirsch, C. (2020, September 14). China's influence in Europe by the numbers. *POLITICO*. <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/mo-money-mo-pandas-chinas-influence-in-europe-by-the-numbers/</u>

Hoffmeister, F. (2023). Strategic autonomy in the European Union's external relations law.
 *Common Market Law Review*, 60(3), 667–700.
 <u>https://kluwerlawonline.com./journalarticle/Common+Market+Law+Review/60.3/CO</u>

LA2023048

- IEA. (n.d.). *Energy security*. Retrieved June 2, 2023, from https://www.iea.org/topics/energy-security
- Interim Economic Partnership Agreement European Union Eastern and Southern Africa States. 2017 OJ (L 111), p. 3-1172. European Commission. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2012/196/oj</u>
- Järvenpää, P., Major, C., & Sakkov, S. (2019). European strategic autonomy operationalising a buzzword. International Centre for Defence and Security. <u>https://icds.ee/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2019/10/ICDS\_Report\_European\_Strategic\_Autonomy\_J%C3%A4rv</u> <u>enp%C3%A4%C3%A4\_Major\_Sakkov\_October\_2019.pdf</u>
- Kleczka, M., Vandercruysse, L., Buts, C., & Du Bois, C. (2023). The Spectrum of Strategic Autonomy in EU Defence Supply Chains. *Defence and Peace Economics*.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10242694.2023.2180588

- Koné, S. (2010). Economic Partnership Agreement between West Africa and the European Union in the context of the World Trade Organization(WTO) and the regional integration process. *Journal of Economic Integration*, 25(1), 105–129. https://doi.org/10.11130/jei.2010.25.1.105
- Laffan, B. (2023). Collective Power Europe? *Government and Opposition*, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2022.52</u>
- Larik, J. (2020). Common commercial policy. In R. A. Wessel & J. Larik (Eds.), *EU External Relations Law* (2nd ed., pp. 209–246). Cambridge University Press.
- Lavery, S., McDaniel, S., & Schmid, D. (2022). European Strategic Autonomy: New Agenda, Old Constraints. In M. Babic, A. D. Dixon, & I. T. Liu (Eds.), *The Political Economy*

*of Geoeconomics: Europe in a Changing World* (pp. 57–80). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-01968-5\_3

- Le Maire, B. (2022, August 31). Can Europe act in time to secure its strategic autonomy in health? *POLITICO*. <u>https://www.politico.eu/sponsored-content/can-europe-act-in-</u> <u>time-to-secure-its-strategic-autonomy-in-health/</u>
- Lippert, B., Von Ondarza, N., & Perthes, V. (2019). *European Strategic Autonomy* (SWP Research Paper 4). German Institute for International and Security Affairs. <u>https://www.swp-</u>

berlin.org/publications/products/research\_papers/2019RP04\_lpt\_orz\_prt\_web.pdf

- Macron, E. (n.d.). *Initiative pour l'Europe*. Speech at the Sorbonne University, Paris , France. <u>https://www.elysee.fr/emmanuel-macron/2017/09/26/initiative-pour-l-europe-</u> discours-d-emmanuel-macron-pour-une-europe-souveraine-unie-democratique
- Manners, I. (2002). Normative Power Europe: A contradiction in terms? *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 40(2), 235–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5965.00353</u>
- Marin, S. (2022, September 13). Europe needs strategic autonomy in energy, food, defence and technology. *European Parliament*. <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/press-</u> <u>room/20220909IPR40139/sanna-marin-europe-needs-strategic-autonomy-in-energy-</u> <u>food-and-technology</u>
- McWilliams, B., Tagliapietra, S., & Zachmann, G. (2023, March 15). Europe is out of the immediate energy crisis. *POLITICO*. <u>https://www.politico.eu/article/europe-is-out-of-the-immediate-energy-crisis/</u>
- Meijer, H., & Brooks, S. J. (2021). Illusions of autonomy: Why Europe cannot provide for its security if the United States pulls back. *International Security*, 45(4), 7–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/isec\_a\_00405</u>

- Meunier Sophie, & Nicolaïdis, K. (2017). The European Union as a trade power. In C. Hill,
  M. Smith, & S. Vanhoonacker (Eds.), *International Relations and the European Union* (3rd ed., pp. 210–230). Oxford University Press.
- Meunier, S., & Nicolaïdis, K. (2019). The Geopoliticization of European Trade and Investment Policy. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 57(S1), 103–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcms.12932</u>
- Meunier, S., & Nocilaïdis, K. (2006). The European Union as a conflicted trade power. Journal of European Public Policy, 13(6), 906–925.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13501760600838623

- Michel, C. (2020, September 8). *Strategic autonomy for Europe the aim of our generation* [Press release]. <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2020/09/28/1-autonomie-strategique-europeenne-est-l-objectif-de-notre-generation-discours-du-president-charles-michel-au-groupe-de-reflexion-bruegel/</u>
- Miró, J. (2022). Responding to the global disorder: The EU's quest for open strategic autonomy. *Global Society*, 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13600826.2022.2110042</u>
- Molthof, L., & Köbben, L. (2022). *How to 'open' strategic autonomy*. Clingendael. <u>https://www.clingendael.org/publication/how-open-strategic-autonomy</u>
- Moraes, H. C., & Wigell, M. (2022). Balancing Dependence: The Quest for Autonomy and the Rise of Corporate Geoeconomics. In M. Babic, A. D. Dixon, & I. T. Liu (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Geoeconomics: Europe in a Changing World* (pp. 29–55). Palgrave Macmillan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-01968-5\_2</u>
- Moravcsik, A. (1993). Preferences and power in the European Community: A liberal intergovernmentalist approach. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, *31*(4), 473–524. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5965.1993.tb00477.x</u>

- Moravcsik, A., & Schimmelfennig, F. (2004). Liberal intergovernmentalism. In A. Wiener, T.A. Börzel, & T. Risse (Eds.), *European Integration Theory* (pp. 64–84). Oxford University Press.
- Müller, H., & Van Esch, F. (2019). The contested nature of political leadership in the European Union: conceptual and methodological cross-fertilisation. *West European Politics*, 43(5), 1051–1071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01402382.2019.1678951</u>
- Nienaber, M. (2017, September 26). Macron's Europe speech draws mixed reaction in Berlin. *Reuters*. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-france-eu-macron-germany-</u> idUSKCN1C128B
- Palm, T. (2021). Normative power and EU strategic autonomy. HCSS: The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies. <u>https://hcss.nl/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Essay-7-Normative-</u> <u>Power.pdf</u>
- Partnership and Cooperation Agreement European Union Iraq. 2011 OJ (L 204), p. 20-130. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2012/418/oj
- Pohl, J. G. (2021). Strategic autonomy as a means to counter protectionism. *Journal of the Academy of European Law*, 22(2), 183–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12027-021-</u> <u>00670-w</u>
- Pothier, F. (2017, October 9). Macron's European vision. *The International Institute for Strategic Studies: The Survival Editors' Blog*. <u>https://www.iiss.org/blogs/survival-blog/2017/10/macron-europe</u>
- Publications Office of the European Union. (2021). *Trade policy review An open,* sustainable and assertive trade policy (NG-02-21-031-EN-N).
  - https://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2021/april/tradoc\_159541.0270\_EN\_05.pdf
- Rodrik, D. (2018). What do trade agreements really do? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 32(2), 73–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.2.73</u>

- Rouse, M. (2019, February 25). *What is Cutting-Edge Technology? Definition from Techopedia*. Techopedia. <u>https://www.techopedia.com/definition/26589/cutting-edge-technology</u>
- Rutten, M. (2001). From St-Malo to Nice: European defence: Core documents (Chaillot Paper 47). The Institute for Security Studies of Western European Union. <u>https://www-iss-europa-eu.ezproxy2.utwente.nl/sites/default/files/EUISSFiles/cp047e.pdf</u>
- Schmitz, L., & Seidl, T. (2022a). Protecting, Transforming, and Projecting the Single Market.
   Open Strategic Autonomy and Digital Sovereignty in the EU's Trade and Digital
   Policies (10.31235/osf.io/wjb64).
   https://www.researchgate.net/publication/360357890\_Protecting\_Transforming\_and\_

Projecting the Single Market Open Strategic Autonomy and Digital Sovereignty in the EU%27s Trade and Digital Policies

- Schmitz, L., & Seidl, T. (2022b). As Open as Possible, as Autonomous as Necessary: Understanding the Rise of Open Strategic Autonomy in EU Trade Policy. *Journal of Common Market Studies*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcms.13428</u>
- Schneider-Petsinger, M. (2020, November 26). *Geoeconomics explained*. Chatham House International Affairs Think Tank.

https://www.chathamhouse.org/2016/12/geoeconomics-explained

- Shalchi, A. (2021). *The UK-EU trade deal: financial services* (CBP 9263). The House of Commons Library. <u>https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9263/</u>
- Simón, L. (2022). *European strategic autonomy and defence after Ukraine* (ARI 74/2022). the Elcano Royal Institute's.

https://www.realinstitutoelcano.org/en/analyses/european-strategic-autonomy-anddefence-after-ukraine/ Snyder, H. R. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, 104, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039

- Spiliopoulos, O. (2014). The EU-Ukraine association agreement as a framework of integration between the Two parties. *Procedia. Economics and Finance*, 9, 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2212-5671(14)00027-6
- Stabilisation and Association Agreement European Union Bosnia and Herzegovina. 2015 OJ (L 164), p. 2-547. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2015/997/oj
- Stabilisation and Association Agreement European Union Kosovo. 2016 OJ (L 71), p. 3-321. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2016/342/oj
- Steinberg, M. I. (1998). Tilting the frame: Considerations on collective action framing from a discursive turn. *Theory and Society*, 27(6), 845–872.

https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1006975321345

- Stepping stone Economic Partnership Agreement European Union Ghana. 2016 Oj (L 287), p. 3-319. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2016/1850/oj
- Storey, A. (2006). Normative Power Europe? Economic Partnership Agreements and Africa. Journal of Contemporary African Studies, 24(3), 331–346. https://doi.org/10.1080/02589000600976646
- Swanson, A. (2019, December 8). Trump Cripples W.T.O. as Trade War Rages. *The New York Times*. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/12/08/business/trump-trade-war-wto.html</u>

Teer, J., & Bertolini, M. (2023). *Reaching breaking point: The semiconductor and critical raw material ecosystem at a time of great power rivalry*. HCSS: The Hague Centre for Strategic Studies. <u>https://hcss.nl/report/reaching-breaking-point-semiconductors-</u> critical-raw-materials-great-power-rivalry/ Thomas, D. (2023, March 29). London loses sole lead as world's top financial centre. *Financial Times*. https://www.ft.com/content/cfcbc1d1-6368-4f8a-b85f-d0db5310eebb

Tocci, N. (2021). European strategic autonomy: What it is, why we need it, how to achieve it. Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI).

https://www.iai.it/sites/default/files/9788893681780.pdf

- Trade Agreement European Union Colombia, Ecuador, Peru. 2012 OJ (L 354), p. 3-2607. European Commission. <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2012/735/oj</u>
- Trade and Cooperation Agreement European Union United Kingdom. 2020 Oj (L 149), p. 10-2539. European Commission. http://data.europa.eu/eli/agree\_internation/2021/689(1)/oj
- Van den Abeele, E. (2021). Towards a new paradigm in open strategic autonomy?

(D/2021/10.574/16). The European Trade Union Institute.

https://www.etui.org/sites/default/files/2021-

06/Towards%20a%20new%20paradigm%20in%20open%20strategic%20autonomy\_2

<u>021.pdf</u>

Van Elsuwege, P., & Chamon, M. (2019). The meaning of "association" under EU law

(10.2861/53571.). https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/8603014

Van Ham, P. (2018). *Trump's impact on European security*. Netherlands Institute of International Relations 'Clingendael.'

https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2018-

01/Report\_Trumps\_Impact\_on\_European\_Security.pdf

Varas, A., Varadarajan, R., Goodrich, J., & Yinung, F. (2021). Strengthening the global semiconductor supply chain in an uncertain era. Boston Consulting Group & Semiconductor Industry Association.

https://www.bcg.com/publications/2021/strengthening-the-global-semiconductorsupply-chain Vogel, T. (2010, February 10). EU to launch Singapore trade talks. *POLITICO*. https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-to-launch-singapore-trade-talks/

Von Der Leyen, U. (2019, December 10). "Check against delivery." In Press remarks by President von der Leyen on the occasion of the adoption of the European Green Deal Communication.

https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/SPEECH\_19\_6749

- Von Der Leyen, U. (2019a, November 8). Europe address. In Europe address Dr Ursula von der Leyen President-elect of the European Commission - Allianz Forum (Pariser Platz), Berlin. <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/speech\_19\_6248</u>
- Von Moltke, K. (2004). Implications of the Cotonou agreement for sustainable development in the ACP countries and beyond. International Institute for Sustainable Development. https://www.iisd.org/system/files/publications/trade\_imp\_cotonou.pdf
- Weinhardt, C., Mau, K., & Pohl, J. H. (2022a). The EU as a geoeconomic actor? A review of recent European trade and investment policies. In M. Babic, A. D. Dixon, & I. T. Liu (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Geoeconomics: Europe in a Changing World* (pp. 107–136). Palgrave Macmillan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-01968-5\_5</u>
- Weinhardt, C., Mau, K., & Pohl, J. H. (2022b). The EU as a Geoeconomic Actor? A Review of Recent European Trade and Investment Policies. In M. Babic, A. D. Dixon, & I. T. Liu (Eds.), *The Political Economy of Geoeconomics: Europe in a Changing World* (pp. 107–136). Palgrave Macmillan. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-01968-5\_5</u>
- *Where does the EU's gas come from?* (2023, February 7). European Council. Retrieved March 1, 2023, from <u>https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/infographics/eu-gas-supply/</u>
- Wirthwein Vega, K. (2022). *Strategic Autonomy & the European Green Deal*. Fiker Institute. <u>https://www.fikerinstitute.org/publications/strategic-autonomy-the-european-green-</u> deal

WTO / legal texts - Marrakesh Agreement. (1986, July).

https://www.wto.org/english/docs\_e/legal\_e/gatt47\_01\_e.htm

- WTO / Understanding the WTO The Uruguay Round. (n.d.). Retrieved June 16, 2023, from https://www.wto.org/english/thewto e/whatis e/tif e/fact5 e.htm
- Young, A. R., & Peterson, J. (2006). The EU and the new trade politics. *Journal of European Public Policy*, *13*(6), 795–814. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501760600837104
- Youngs, R., & Ülgen, S. (2022). *The European Union's competitive globalism*. Carnegie Europe.

https://carnegieendowment.org/files/RewiringGlobalization\_final\_Revised1.pdf

- Yun Chee, F. (2023, April 28). STMicroelectronics, GlobalFoundries win EU approval for French chip factory. *Reuters*. <u>https://www.reuters.com/technology/stmicroelectronics-globalfoundries-win-eu-approval-french-chip-factory-2023-04-28/</u>
- Zandzee, D., Deen, B., Kruijver, K., & Stoetman, A. (2020). European strategic autonomy in security and defence. Netherlands Institute of International Relations Clingendael. <u>https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2020-</u>

12/Report\_European\_Strategic\_Autonomy\_December\_2020.pdf

COUNTRY	TYPE OF AGREEMENT	SIGNED
Armenia	EPA	24-11-2017
Bosnia and Herzegovina	AA	30-6-2015
Canada	FTA	30-11-2016
Central America	AA	29-6-2012
Colombia, Ecuador, Peru	FTA	26-6-2012
ESA	EPA	28-7-2017
Georgia	AA	27-6-2014
Ghana	EPA	28-7-2016
Iraq	AA	31-7-2012
Japan	EPA	17-7-2018
Kazakhstan	EPA	26-10-2015
Kosovo	AA	27-10-2015
Moldova	AA	27-6-2014
Pacific	EPA	19-1-2011
Singapore	FTA	19-10-2018
SADC	EPA	10-6-2016
South Korea	FTA	6-10-2010
Ukraine	AA	27-6-2014
Vietnam	FTA	30-6-2019

## Appendix 1 – Overview of trade agreements ratified between 2010-2020

Antimony	Gallium	Natural rubber	Titanium
Bauxite	Germanium	Niobium	Tungsten
Baryte	Hafnium	PGMs	Vanadium
Beryllium	HREEs	Phosphate rock	
Bismuth	LREEs	Phosphorus	
Borate	Indium	Scandium	
Cobalt	Lithium	Silicon metal	
Cooking coal	Magnesium	Strontium	
Fluorspar	Natural Graphite	Tantalum	

## Appendix 2 – List of critical raw materials as defined by the EC

## Appendix 3 – Overview of trade agreements finished since 2020

COUNTRY	TYPE OF AGREEMENT	NEGOTIATIONS CONCLUDED	SIGNED
Chile	Updated AA	9-12-2022	
China	Investment agreement	30-12-2020	
Mexico	Updated FTA	28-04-2020	
New Zealand	FTA	30-6-2022	
United Kingdom	Trade and cooperation agreement		30-12-2020